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“We love using our 
RACQ membership  
for discount holidays”

our Vision
raCq … a must for all queenslanders.

roaDmaP 2030
By 2030, raCq aims to be a truly multi-dimensional modern 
mutual, offering queenslanders at least two primary reasons 
for joining beyond roadside assistance.

our VaLues
members First
our members are the reason we exist and will remain our 
priority. We advocate our members’ interests and in doing so 
benefit our community.

trust anD inDePenDenCe
We are independent and display integrity and honesty. We are 
empowered to be responsible and accountable. We respect 
others, communicate openly and share a positive attitude.

Working togetHer
We work together, sharing information and expertise to bring 
clarity to problems and provide uncomplicated solutions and 
straightforward answers.

exCeLLenCe anD QuaLity
We are a leading organisation, setting ourselves the highest 
standards in all we do. We believe in doing the right things in 
the right way and will pursue better ways of doing these things 
to meet the challenges of the future.
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it’s your  

family club
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membership tops 1.2 million – almost three out  
of 10 Queenslanders carry an raCQ card and  
57% of Queensland homes have an raCQ member.

million-plus road service calls attended a year  
with world-leading mobilisation rate of 93 percent, 
meaning we get nine in 10 breakdowns going again  
at the roadside rather than having to tow.

raCQ commits $20 million to assist disaster-
affected individuals and communities, including 
$10 million in compassionate payments through 
raCQ insurance.

new raCQ Foundation distributes $5 million  
to more than 90 community organisations hit  
by floods and cyclones.

motorists access 17 million road conditions  
reports online in wake of floods and cyclones 
across the state.

raCQ becomes australia’s largest reseller of  
movie tickets with more than 370,000 discounted 
passes sold.

Loans worth $21 million written – an almost 
70 percent increase on the previous year – and 
offered to members at discounted rates through 
raCQ Finance.

RACQ launches official Facebook and Twitter sites.

group enterprise system rolls out as one of 
australia’s largest it projects.

mount isa-based nQ rescue joins the raCQ-
sponsored community helicopter network.

raCQ helps launch global Decade of action for  
road safety in Queensland.

Club conducts first major research trial in 
Queensland on eco-driving benefits.

family club

surplus of  
$69 million  
generated for 
reinvestment into 
memBer serviCes  
and Benefits

memBers save 

$42.8 million 
through disCounts on  
raCq insuranCe premiums

smart phone ‘apps’ 
for road serviCe and 
trip planner attraCt  30,000 downloads

highlights
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tHrougH botH Design anD CirCumstanCe,  
2011 ProVeD to be oF one tHe most 
CHaLLenging yet reWarDing years in 
raCQ’s Century-PLus History.

at no time in your Club’s 107-year history has raCq 

faced such a confluence of external and internal 

pressures.  as president, i am proud of how well the 

raCq team has managed these challenges and how 

well placed the organisation is for the future.

your Club had set itself the ambitious target of 

designing and progressively implementing new 

structures and systems to re-integrate raCq 

insurance back into the raCq group, following our 

resumption of full ownership in 2010.  these projects 

are huge undertakings, but they formed just part of 

the overall Board strategy of ensuring everything 

the raCq does – and every service it offers – is, 

ultimately, for the benefit of members.

the natural disasters of summer 2010–11 meant 

that this major project work had to run in parallel 

with doing all we practically could to help members, 

insurance policyholders, and the wider community 

deal with the immediate and ongoing effects of 

widespread floods and a major cyclone.

through all this, your Club maintained ‘business as 

usual’, delivering to an increasing membership world-

class roadside assistance, effective motoring advocacy, 

and a range of other services and benefits unmatched 

by our profit-driven competitors.

it speaks volumes for the robustness and vitality of 

RACQ that its people, systems and finances were 

up to such daunting multi-tasking.  it is particularly 

appropriate that i use this report to recognise and 

thank our people – staff, contractors and agents 

– who, through their skills, dedication and service 

ethic, reinforced the raCq’s iconic reputation 

within the queensland community and helped lay 

the foundations for an even more member-focussed 

organisation in the future.

all members should be proud of the role your Club 

played in last year’s overall disaster response: from 

the road service volunteers who lent a practical 

helping hand in cyclone-ravaged Cardwell, tully and 

Innisfail and flood-devastated Murphy’s Creek to the 

raCq staff and contractors who put aside their own 

personal misfortunes to ensure our phones were 

answered, road condition reports were updated, 

and assistance services were delivered around the 

clock.  your membership also meant raCq-sponsored 

community helicopter services were able to carry out 

search, rescue, evacuation and medical mercy missions 

across the disaster-affected regions.

these efforts, in the best traditions of raCq,  

made all the more disappointing the ill-informed and 

sensationalised criticisms to which the organisation 

was subjected over the handling and outcomes 

of some insurance claims by policyholders, whose 

homes were not covered for riverine flooding.  For 

the record, raCq insurance was simply not in the 

position to pay for damage caused outside the terms 

of insurance policy coverage.

president’s 
overvieW  

2011
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raCq has actively sought to learn from the lessons 

so painfully provided by the unprecedented events of 

late 2010 and early 2011.  to this end, we have worked 

actively and cooperatively with the subsequent 

Federal and State flood inquiries, as well as the wider 

general insurance industry, to try to improve access to 

flood cover for all Queenslanders, ensure Household 

insurance remains affordable, improve claims 

practices at a time of catastrophe, and be even more 

transparent in regards to selling household insurance.

it also needs to be recorded that raCq provided 

$10 million to fund compassionate assistance 

payments to its insurance policyholders who were 

severely affected by the natural disasters and did not 

have flood insurance cover.

that $10 million in targeted assistance to raCq 

insurance policyholders was part of a $20 million 

disaster relief package approved at a special raCq 

Board meeting in January 2011.  the package also 

included $2 million to the premier’s disaster relief 

appeal and $8 million to be distributed to disaster-

impacted communities through the newly formed 

raCq foundation.  

Significantly, the RACQ assistance package was 

announced well before any other large corporate 

donations or federal government disaster 

funding.  the raCq foundation (on which the group 

Ceo reports in more detail later in this document)  

is the trustee of two charitable trusts and is designed 

to assist community and charitable organisations  

re-establish themselves to pre-disaster levels.  

Being able to fund one of the biggest community 

assistance packages in australia’s corporate history  

is testament to the RACQ Group’s financial strength. 

 it also demonstrates that your Club, as queensland’s 

largest mutual, seeks to achieve positive social 

objectives rather than profit for its own sake.

of course, raCq’s primary objective is to serve and 

look after members as best we can.  so in 2011 there 

was even greater Board emphasis on seeing that the 

group’s structures, systems and people continued to 

be developed towards this end.

as a result, we invested even more reserves  

back into the delivery of greater member benefit  

in the future.

RACQ-sponsored 
community helicopter 
services were able to 
carry out search, rescue, 
evacuation and medical 
mercy missions

raCq annual report 2011      5



one important caveat on pursuing cost constraints 

was ensuring that raCq’s ability to deliver its  

key member services across queensland was not  

compromised.  this was achieved with great 

success.  as the group Ceo’s report highlights, our 

flagship roadside assistance service consolidated its 

position as ‘simply the best’ in 2011 – in the face of 

a gaggle of new competitors who see offering a pale 

facsimile of our road service as a useful bolt-on to 

their insurance policies or other commercial offerings.

members can be assured that the Board will continue 

to place a high priority on resourcing, training and 

equipping the Club’s roadside assistance network to 

maintain its statewide pre-eminence.

as we enter a busy electoral cycle at the local, 

state and – next year – federal level, raCq will 

also demonstrate its pre-eminent position as the 

queensland motorist’s advocate.  it will leverage  

much of the public policy research and outreach 

effort of 2011 to present to the political parties and 

the electorate a strong, reasoned case for government 

policies that deliver safe, affordable and sustainable 

transport and especially at reducing the carnage on 

our roads.

RACQ advocacy is based firmly on the best 

interests of our 1.2 million members as motorists, 

who also comprise almost a third of the state's 

population.  however, the policies outlined in our 

Motoring Matters policy document, prepared for  

the state election, are also framed with overall  

benefit to the wider Queensland community very 

much in mind.

Just as this strong sense of community responsibility 

guided our advocacy efforts and our response 

to natural disasters in 2011, it also underpinned 

increased support for queenslanders helping fellow 

queenslanders.  We became inaugural naming rights 

sponsor of mount isa-based nq rescue, extending 

the network of raCq-sponsored community 

helicopter rescue and aero-medical services to cover 

much of outback queensland.

on the road safety front – and as just one raCq 

contribution to the international decade of action for 

road safety – we signed on to support the party 

(prevent alcohol and risk-related trauma in youth) 

program.  party is an initiative of the royal Brisbane 

and Women’s hospital that aims to reduce road 

deaths and injuries among young drivers by taking 

high school students into the hospital’s emergency, 

intensive care, trauma and rehabilitation wards, so they 

can see first hand the outcomes of road crashes.

the resumption of full ownership of raCq insurance 

in 2010 generated an immediate major challenge to 

fund, design and implement a new operating system 

for our insurance subsidiary to replace, before the 

end of 2012, the system provided by our former joint 

venture partner.

While such a project alone would have been a huge 

undertaking, the raCq Board endorsed an approach 

designed to provide an overarching group it system 

that will allow us to better service the multi-faceted 

needs of members and policyholders who are, more 

often than not, the same people.

Changes to the group’s management structure last 

year, including the creation of a group Ceo position, 

were similarly designed to ensure a more integrated 

approach to helping queenslanders, whether they 

look to raCq for roadside assistance, insurance, 

personal finance, motoring advocacy, or travel and 

leisure services.

my fellow directors and i have been especially 

gratified to observe how management and staff across 

the group have embraced the renewed ‘one raCq’ 

approach, in terms of accepting the revised structure 

and working cooperatively to ensure the best possible 

outcomes for our members.

With raCq insurance having weathered a 

tumultuous 2011 in the face of an unprecedented 

volume and quantum of claims (94 percent of which 

were paid) and still contributing strongly to the 

Group’s overall financial result, the Club’s Board looks 

back on the year as one that vindicated the decision 

to resume sole ownership of the insurance company.

While not an end in itself, the group surplus of  

$69 million for the year is a pleasing result.  It reflects 

not only the contribution of raCq insurance and 

other investments, but also management’s adherence 

to sensible cost controls in the face of the necessarily 

high expenditure involved in our major it project.

president’s 
overvieW  

2011continued
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it’s your  adventure club

“RACQ lets me explore 
the great outdoors”

having come to the raCq board 14 years ago to 

represent members in the Wide Bay-sunshine Coast 

Zone, i maintain a long-held interest in ensuring that 

the Club continues to be very much part of the fabric 

of regional queensland.  so i am personally pleased 

to note the efforts of management in 2011 to secure 

the ongoing viability of our road service contractor 

network outside metropolitan Brisbane, maintain and 

refresh our statewide branch and agency network, and 

to ensure our members’ communities benefited from 

our motoring advocacy and charitable programs.

one of the raCq’s continuing strengths is its 

constitutionally mandated balance of south-east 

queensland and regional representation at Board 

level.  In my first year as President, I have been 

fortunate to have the counsel of fellow directors 

who not only collectively provide a genuine 

statewide perspective on governance, strategy and 

advocacy matters, but also bring an impressive 

and complementary array of business skills to the 

boardroom table.

in such a challenging year as 2011 it was to the Club’s 

advantage to enjoy stability of board membership, 

with former president richard pietsch continuing to 

represent the south West Zone with his typical vigour 

while also chairing the raCq insurance Board.   

We are similarly fortunate to have south east Zone 

director nigel alexander assume the position of   

vice president.

in recognising the contributions of serving directors, 

it is also appropriate to note with regret the deaths 

in 2011 of past president arthur stephenson and 

former Chief Executive Officer Noel Mason.  Both had 

been awarded raCq honorary life membership in 

particular recognition of their leadership in the 1980s, 

which largely laid the foundation of the solid financial 

position the Club enjoys today.

on behalf of the entire Board and all members,  

I thank Group Chief Executive Officer Ian Gillespie, 

his management team and staff, as well as contractors 

and agents throughout queensland, for consistently 

managing to meet – and often exceed – the high 

service standards and major project milestones 

expected of them in what was a momentously 

challenging year.  

their achievements in 2011further underscore the 

raCq’s unmatched reputation for outstanding 

member service and lay the groundwork for ensuring 

our organisation will be well equipped to deliver even 

higher standards in the future.

geoFFrey LeDDy 
Chairman
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it is WitH great satisFaCtion anD PriDe 
tHat i rePort on a year in WHiCH raCQ 
DeLiVereD on our serViCe Promise to 
members anD on our Commitment to tHe 
WiDer QueensLanD Community in tHe 
FaCe oF some extraorDinary CHaLLenges.

to record 96 percent service satisfaction levels, 

maintain positive membership growth, and return a 

strong surplus of $69 million would have been big 

achievements in a ‘normal’ year.  to do so in a year that 

required a group-wide response to natural disasters 

on an unprecedented scale, while also managing 

major projects that will underpin our future service 

capabilities, brings great credit to the raCq team  

i am privileged to lead.

staff, agents, contractors and members can also look 

back on 2011 as a high point in the Club’s century-

long history of lending a helping hand to fellow 

Queenslanders through practical and financial support.

grouP Ceo’s 
operational 

report

HeLPing you as onLy raCQ Can

The first quarter of 2011 was an extremely difficult 

period for the delivery of all raCq services owing  

to the extreme weather across much of the state.   

our road service patrols – supported by the tireless 

efforts of our call centre staff – often went above and 

beyond our own high expectations to come to the aid 

of flood and cyclone-affected members and customers.  

our roadside assistance patrols attended a total of 

1,034,000 jobs during the year and, despite severe 

operational difficulties in January and February, 

bettered the Board’s performance benchmarks.   

across the year, more than 85 percent of jobs were 

attended within 40 minutes and almost 96 percent 

within 60 minutes.  the mobilisation rate at the 

roadside was a world-leading 93 percent, despite 

increasing sophistication in vehicle technologies  

and security systems.  

to help achieve this outcome raCq continued 

to invest heavily in ongoing training for more than 

800 staff and contractor patrols providing roadside 

assistance across queensland.  our technical trainers 

develop mechanical, mobilisation and lock out 

procedures for every vehicle, utilising a combination  

of face-to-face teaching and online e-learning modules 

to share their knowledge with patrols.

RACQ delivered on 
our service promise 
to members and on 
our commitment to 
the wider Queensland 
community
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during the year we continued the roll-out of new 

roadside assistance vehicles bringing the total fleet of 

raCq and contractor-operated units across the state 

to more than 700.  the new vehicles not only feature 

raCq’s refreshed brand livery but, more importantly, 

state-of-the-art communications and diagnostic 

equipment to help ensure we maintain the very best 

response times and ‘go’ rates.

Strongly complementing our ‘first response’ assistance 

to members at the roadside was our ability to  

deliver and expertly fit 135,308 RACQ batteries.   

the expansion of both raCq auto glass and raCq 

Car electrics mobile services also provided additional 

value and convenience for members whose vehicles 

required more than mechanical ‘first aid’.

similarly, we sought to give members even greater 

assurance in the benefits of using RACQ Approved 

repairers for their car servicing or repairs through 

a comprehensive overhaul of this long-standing 

scheme.  New classifications of repairers are now in 

place as well as improved signage to highlight those 

workshops that meet the high service and quality 

standards set by the Club.

our technical services team again provided  

practical consumer protection to thousands of car 

owners and buyers, carrying out 26,340 vehicle 

inspections – mainly on used cars being offered for 

sale.  the number of inspections was up by some 

800 over the previous year with the introduction 

of technology enhancements that permitted the 

expansion of the service to more regional centres.

technical services also responded to 60,306 requests 

for advice on issues relating to car purchase, vehicle 

servicing or repairs.  many of the 2,904 member 

inquiries handled by our legal advisory service also 

related to such issues, along with concerns over traffic 

and parking penalties, road crashes and insurance.

It's your 
community club
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the application of the Club’s expertise in safe,  

efficient roadside recovery operations was rewarded 

with an extension of our stationary and abandoned 

vehicle clearance contract with the department of 

transport and main roads for another three years.   

the geographical area covered was also extended to 

include most of south-east queensland’s motorway 

network, from the Bribie island turn-off to the new 

south Wales border and west to ipswich.  We were 

also successful in our tender for the provision of Traffic 

response units on the major roads of Brisbane and  

the gold Coast for a further three years.

it’s aLL about tHe members

in a year in which the Club concentrated much of 

its effort on enhancing the service experience for 

current members – and as the battle for consumers’ 

discretionary dollars continued unabated – the  

0.5 percent net growth in membership for 2011  

was a satisfactory result.

at the end of 2011 a total of 1,204,100 queenslanders  

were RACQ members.  This reflected both their 

desire to be assured of the very best in roadside 

assistance for their vehicles when needed and their 

increasing recognition of the many other benefits of 

belonging to the state’s largest club.

despite a $4 increase in the standard membership 

subscription on 1 July 2011, our $78 annual fee 

remained the lowest for any australian motoring 

club.  at the same time, demand for the raCq’s 

enhanced member assistance options accelerated, 

with an increase of 5.6 percent in the take-up of 

roadside extra, plus, ultra and ultimate, resulting in 

458,807 members (38.1 percent of total membership) 

now driving anywhere in australia with added peace 

of mind.  raCq ultra alone now provides additional 

personalised assistance after motoring incidents to 

more than one quarter of our members.

as a member-based organisation we take special 

pride in the lengthy loyal association so many of those 

members have with raCq.  in the past year we again 

recognised and celebrated the support of those 24,978 

queenslanders with 50 or more continuous years 

of association with the Club through our gold 50 

morning teas.  these events, which were held around 

metropolitan Brisbane in 2011, provide an excellent 

opportunity to thank our longest-serving members and 

to garner feedback from them on raCq services and 

motoring issues generally.  We look forward to taking 

these enjoyable events back to regional centres in 2012.

our records also show raCq now has a total of 

425,078 members with silver cards (10 or more years)  

and 279,513 gold members who have recorded  

25 years-plus membership with raCq.

for those just embarking on what we hope will be 

long and safe lives as motorists, our free2go youth 

membership program was further developed to 

better ensure it delivered important driver safety 

and consumer advice to young people in engaging 

and informative ways.  in 2011, the number of 16 to 

19-year-olds enrolled with free2go increased almost 

five percent to 135,960.

fleet and business memberships grew marginally 

despite generally tight economic conditions, thanks to 

our continuing delivery of prompt, efficient roadside 

assistance to businesses and an expanding range of 

complementary motoring products and services.   

these range from batteries and diesel mis-fuelling 

prevention devices to targeted education programs 

for employees who drive in the course of their 

work.  Almost 400 government and commercial fleets 

were covered under raCq fleet Care last year,  

while more than 10,000 companies, large and small,  

kept their vehicles on the road protected by our 

Business fleet membership.

 grouP Ceo’s  
operational 

report 
continued
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more beneFits anD VaLue For members

in line with our overall strategic objective of providing 

a more multi-dimensional benefit to members, a great 

deal of effort was invested in 2011 into expanding 

our range of value offerings.  these were designed to 

progress a positive perception change: from what to 

expect from a ‘motoring organisation’ to how much 

more their ‘Club’ can do for them.

raCq travel sales grew four percent over 2010 to 

generate a total of $38.5 million.  it did so primarily 

through securing top value deals for members on 

cruises, international escorted tours and other holiday 

packages, backed by expert, personalised service from 

our growing network of consultants.  the total number 

of trips booked through raCq travel last year grew 

by six percent.

But members did not have to obtain a passport to 

benefit from the RACQ membership card in their 

wallet.  sales of more than 370,000 discounted movie 

tickets last year (up from 190,000 in 2010) made your 

Club the largest reseller of such tickets in australia, 

while we continued to make theme park visits a 

significantly more affordable experience for thousands 

of members and their families.  

also during the course of the year we forged or 

consolidated relationships with a range of major 

sports and concert promoters to deliver an increased 

range of exclusive member discounts to major events 

across queensland.

raCq membership helped ease the impact of 

everyday and major bills through an expanded show 

your Card and save program, offering savings of up 

to 20 percent on products and services ranging from 

auto parts and tyres to veterinary supplies, optometry, 

financial planning and health insurance.
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it is worth noting that, in facilitating these special 

benefits to a membership accounting for almost  

30 percent of the state’s population, the show your 

Card and save program is helping to put custom 

through the doors of queensland businesses in what 

remains a generally sluggish retail environment.

With more concerted promotion and very 

competitive rates, raCq finance (underwritten by 

raCv finance) became an increasingly recognisable 

source of personal loans for members during 

2011.  the number of loans written increased almost  

60 percent and the total value increased 69 percent.   

loans were primarily for new and used motor cars, 

but also for boats, caravans, motorcycles, home 

renovations and other personal uses.  

insuranCe… an integraL Part oF raCQ

raCq insurance has been a major contributor to  

our overall proposition to members for more than  

40 years.

our insurance arm was founded to provide Club 

members with value-for-money insurance policies 

backed by raCq service standards, but it has also 

been a major underwriter of the Club’s financial 

success.  through shareholder dividends and cost 

sharing, our investment in raCq insurance has  

been a vital contributor to the maintenance and 

improvement of our service network, as well as 

enabling us to consistently keep membership fees  

well under the actual cost of delivering standard 

member services.

in short, our approach to being in the insurance 

business is very much aligned with our ethos as a 

mutual association, owned by and operated for  

the benefit of members.

the restoration of full raCq ownership of 

raCq insurance in 2010 and closer integration 

of management, systems and marketing in 2011 

have opened the door to even greater synergistic 

opportunities within the raCq group.  We are 

confident that this will not only assist in further 

controlling operational costs across the group 

but also allow us to provide even more insurance 

benefits for members, which last year amounted to 

approximately $42.8 million in premium discounts.

the value of raCq’s resumption of full ownership 

was illustrated in the distribution of $10 million in  

compassionate payments from Club funds to 

policyholders who were not covered for flood 

damage during the disastrous events of late 2010  

and early 2011.  With no reinsurance for making 

payments outside policy conditions, our insurance 

company was able to use funding through foregone 

dividends payable to raCq to provide much needed 

financial relief to its flood-affected policyholders,  

many of whom were also Club members.  

importantly, it should also be recorded that raCq 

insurance handled more than 16,000 claims arising 

from those floods and Cyclone Yasi, subsequently 

paying 94 per cent of all claims, for loss and damage to 

their homes, contents, vehicles and other property.

issues around the payment of claims for customers 

who did not have appropriate insurance cover during 

the floods were highlighted in the media.  This caused 

a great deal of concern for our staff and our members.

raCq insurance has always operated under the 

philosophy of where we can pay and there is 

appropriate cover, we will pay.   As the figures above 

show, many queenslanders were helped by raCq 

insurance during these days of disaster.  

it is fair to say that an organisation whose staff  

and contractors spend so much time helping others 

and forming part of the raCq team was rocked 

by some of the criticism received during this highly 

emotional time.  

however, as you can see from our contributions as a 

group through compassionate payments, donations 

and our own raCq foundation, we have done much 

to support our queensland members, and their 

communities, over the past year.

grouP Ceo’s  
operational 

report 
continued
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ConneCting WitH members

Being queensland’s largest membership organisation, 

our customer contacts in 2011 were again of ‘phone 

book’ proportions.  more than six million telephone 

calls were handled (right here in queensland) across 

our roadside assistance, member services and sales 

channels.  to ensure the organisation’s ongoing ability to 

cater for such huge demand a new converged telephony 

system of world-class standard was deployed across the 

raCq group over the course of the year.

We also recorded significant growth in use of the  

raCq website for information and business transactions,  

with an increase of 24 percent in the number of unique 

visits to www.racq.com.au last year.  total usage, inclusive 

of visits to our road conditions reporting site, was up 

11 percent to almost 9.8 million.

in the two months from december 2010 to february 

last year, the traffic disruption caused by widespread 

flooding and Cyclone Yasi led to some 17 million road 

condition reports being accessed online in addition to 

151,000 calls to our telephone hotline.

further development of the raCq website’s 

transactional capabilities, combined with growing 

consumer preference, drove online sales up more than 

29 percent over 2010 figures to almost $56 million.

to better serve the growing number of members with 

smart phones we launched two applications for the 

apple iphone: a ‘mobile’ version of the raCq trip 

planner; and an ‘app’ that allows the member to lodge 

a request for raCq roadside assistance without a 

phone call and uses the device’s inbuilt gps capability 

to help us find you.  Following an encouraging take-up 

by iphone users (almost 30,000 downloads), we plan 

to provide similar applications for android-based 

devices during 2012.

however, none of the Club’s development of our 

online or telephony capabilities came at the expense 

of our overall shopfront presence through branches 

and agencies across queensland.  our townsville 

branch underwent major refurbishment and our 

Mackay office was relocated to the high-traffic 

Canelands Central shopping centre.  agencies at 

elanora, gympie and nerang were also refreshed in 

line with our new corporate identity while we added  

a new agency to the network at redcliffe.

for regional queenslanders, in particular, the local 

raCq branch remains very much a place to visit  

to obtain good motoring, travel or insurance advice.   

and, despite the increasing utilisation of our telephone 

and online systems, our shopfront facilities still handled 

almost 700,000 membership, insurance and general 

sales transactions (including some 375,000 discounted 

movie tickets) in 2011, reinforcing this organisation’s 

commitment to maintaining a real presence in people 

and property throughout the state.

But the number of member contacts tells only part 

of the story.  We recognise it is the quality of each 

member’s individual experience with the Club that 

will ultimately cement loyalty and determine further 

growth.  hence, we maintained a big investment last 

year in systems and in our people to ensure they have 

the tools, knowledge and attitude to help members 

promptly, efficiently and with empathy.  The roll-out 

of the first phase of a new member relationship 

management (mrm) system has already been providing  

our staff and agents with a better knowledge of you 

and your requirements.  it will be further developed 

over the coming year to allow us to better record,  

track and act upon customer feedback.

Continuing development of our new group enterprise 

system (ges) also delivered to raCq a new insurance 

claims handling system, with new underwriting and 

billing mechanisms scheduled to be in place by the 

second half of this year.  While the catalyst for the 

project was the need to replace the system supplied to 

raCq insurance by its previous joint venture partner, 

ges is being designed to cater for the overall business 

needs of the entire raCq group.
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involving what is believed to be one of australia’s 

largest data transfer projects, ges is certainly  

the biggest such project undertaken by raCq.   

its progress to date without negative impact on  

the provision of member services reflects positively 

on the professionalism and hard work of many staff 

– from our it and project planning specialists to 

customer service staff seconded to the project  

and those ensuring that it’s ‘business as usual’ for 

members and insurance customers.

our avenues of communication with members 

continued to expand in 2011 as we took increasing 

advantage of new media to provide information and 

advice according to specific personal interests and to 

engage in conversation on motoring or raCq-related 

issues.  from modest initial followings on facebook 

and twitter, for example, our social media program 

generated high levels of discussion on topics ranging 

from toll roads to traffic enforcement.

the road ahead magazine remained our major 

means of communicating with members, with 

6.3 million copies of queensland’s largest circulating 

magazine distributed in print and digital form.  annual 

research indicated more than 96 percent of members 

read the magazine.

meanwhile, opt-in registrations for the road ahead’s 

series of specialised lifestyle e-newsletters reached 

more than 439,408, with each of the 12 titles being 

distributed monthly, free, to subscribers.  the road 

ahead’s lifestyle website, roadahead.com.au, continued 

to grow in popularity, attracting 1.79 million page 

views for the year.

established in 2010, our standing research panel of 

some 2800 members again provided us with valuable 

online feedback last year, helping us ensure that the 

range and quality of raCq services and our motoring 

advocacy remained well attuned to your expectations.

our FinanCiaL PerFormanCe

after a 2010 surplus of $236.6 million, arising largely 

from an accounting requirement to revalue raCq’s 

pre-existing share of raCq insurance, the 2011 

group surplus of $69 million is more closely aligned 

with ‘normal’ operational and investment outcomes.

the reported surplus was impacted by factors that are 

not anticipated to occur in future years, namely releases 

of prior years’ Ctp outstanding claims provisions and the 

combined contributions to communities and insurance 

policyholders impacted by natural disasters in late 

2010 and early 2011.  the underlying surplus earnings 

of raCq, after adjusting for the impact of these 

items, amounted to approximately $50 million.  this is 

consistent with the internal objective established to 

ensure that raCq maintains adequate reserves to 

support the sustainable delivery of value-for-money 

products and services in the long term.  

our solid surplus in what was an extremely 

challenging year highlights the important place in  

the queensland community raCq holds and  

the ongoing value, in services and products, which  

it brings to its members and customers.

While modest net membership growth over the past 

year had negligible effect on the bottom line in terms 

of either revenue or costs, continuing strong growth 

in the take-up of our enhanced member assistance 

options made a useful contribution to the surplus 

while providing members with extra reassurance and 

assistance when needed.

it will come as little surprise that the Club’s 

investment portfolio generally reflected the volatility 

and challenges of the marketplace in 2011, although 

we can take some satisfaction in our portfolio slightly 

outperforming the market in general.  

our big it projects were expected to have a 

significant cost impact last year and were largely 

accommodated within budget.  What could not have 

been fully budgeted for were the cost and revenue 

impacts of the natural disasters in the first quarter 

of the year.  As a result, we experienced significant 

increases in the operational costs of road service and 

our call centres, while disruptions to personal lives and 

businesses had an adverse effect on revenue in such 

areas as travel and driver training during and after the 

natural disasters.
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growth in the group’s net assets to $861 million 

in 2011 shows your Club is a financially sound and 

responsible organisation, in a strong capital position 

and able to maintain continued investment in 

equipment and premises in order to provide high 

quality member service.  it also means we are well 

placed to manage insurance-related risks arising from 

our full ownership of raCq insurance.

soCiaL resPonsibiLity – a Continuing 
traDition

Corporate social responsibility (Csr) is increasingly 

regarded as an important measure of any large 

organisation’s overall business performance.  standards 

of governance as well as the fulfilling of obligations 

to employees, customers, suppliers and the general 

community are legitimately up for scrutiny.

While a formal Csr policy statement for the raCq 

group is being developed, raCq members can take 

pride in how seriously their organisation already takes 

its responsibility to contribute back to the queensland 

community, in which it has progressed and prospered 

for 107 years.

the efforts of the Club’s Community response team 

(Crt) volunteers are a great example.  as this report 

is prepared, the volunteer team members have just 

returned from nine days helping the residents of 

mitchell and st george in south-west queensland 

clean up after the floods that devastated their towns 

in early february 2012.  formed largely on the 

initiative of raCq roadside assistance staff who,  

with management blessing and support, were among 

the first external volunteers to lend a hand to Tully 

residents after Cyclone yasi hit in february last year, 

our Crt has now been recognised by emergency 

management queensland as having a valuable role to 

play in any future coordinated disaster responses.

the coal-face efforts of our dedicated staff in such 

emergencies will continue to be complemented 

by the charitable contributions of the raCq 

foundation.  the foundation was formed amid last 

year’s floods and cyclones to help community-based 

groups get up and running again after natural disasters 

with individual funding allocations of up to $200,000.

We continued to make a 
constructive contribution 
to the road safety cause
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With an initial raCq contribution of $8 million, the 

foundation, which operates independently of the Club 

through its own board, had approved approximately 

$5 million in funds to more than 90 organisations 

throughout queensland by the end of 2011.

some successful outcomes achieved through funding 

assistance from the raCq foundation included: 

• Flood-affected home owners in the Ipswich-Karalee 

area received building materials, such as dry wall 

sheeting and kitchen packs, through the ipswich 

north rotary Club.

• A Toowoomba-based charity for at-risk and 

disadvantaged children was able to re-establish 

services, repair playground equipment, and replace 

assets and vehicles to support community services 

across the darling downs.  

• Children attending the Emerald Community 

Kindergarten are again enjoying their playground, 

which was rebuilt after being inundated by 

floodwater.

• Disabled people are now living in brand new homes 

at redbank after their former accommodation was 

inundated during the January floods.  

• Scouts at Oakey and Withcott have repaired 

campsites and dens.  

• The courts and clubhouse at the Brisbane 

Basketball Centre are again available to 4,000 

players a week after the completion of repairs.  

• Thirty teenagers in Ipswich and the Lockyer Valley 

who suffered psychological trauma after the floods 

received professional counselling.  

• Members of the Metropolitan District Netball 

association are back in action with netball courts 

having been reinstated.

• Community television station 31 Digital was  

helped back on air after replacement of a vital 

piece of studio mixing equipment that was  

ruined in the floods.  

• Youngsters, and the not so young, from Cairns 

to the gold Coast are playing afl, rugby league, 

soccer, hockey and croquet on fields that were 

repaired.  

• Intensive care units at the RSPCA’s Brisbane 

headquarters were re-equipped to treat injured 

and sick animals.  

the raCq foundation pty ltd is the trustee of two 

registered charitable trusts and is chaired by past Club 

president richard pietsch oam.  it is fortunate also 

to have the services as a board member of professor 

peter little, executive dean of the queensland 

university of technology’s Business school.  

the establishment of the foundation and the 

commitment of such a significant amount of the Club’s 

reserves to the rebuilding of communities affected by 

natural disasters constituted a genuine addition to the 

raCq’s already considerable community involvement 

through sponsorships.

the largest of these, the raCq Community 

helicopter rescue network, continued to provide 

a mantle of safety over the majority of the state’s 

population, flying 1204 life-saving missions in 

2011.  and our decision to extend our sponsored 

helicopter network, enabling nq rescue to provide a 

dedicated service out of mount isa, is already showing 

its value with a busy log of rescue and aero-medical 

missions involving road crash victims, flood-stranded 

motorists, and injured rural and mine workers.

as members would expect, road safety continued  

to feature prominently in our community 

involvements last year.  raCq’s own road safety 

education team provided 750 age-tailored streets 

ahead presentations on safe road use to almost 

20,000 primary school students in Brisbane,  

gold Coast, mackay, hervey Bay, maryborough and 

Bundaberg.  the team also helped more than 3,000 

older motorists in those centres keep driving safely 

and confidently through 74 Years Ahead workshops.   

in addition, our gold 50 morning teas provided a 

further receptive audience of some 3,000 to hear  

key years ahead messages.
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important road safety messages were also driven 

home to senior secondary students through 

continuing raCq sponsorship of docudramas  

and the royal Brisbane and Women’s hospital’s 

party program, both of which are designed to 

provide young people with sobering insights into  

the traumatic and often tragic effects of road 

crashes.  for those marking the completion of their 

secondary schooling at schoolies Week events, 

the Club again ensured safe transport through the 

provision of free bus services at the gold Coast, 

yeppoon and airlie Beach.

embracing a new facet of advocacy through 

community involvement, we were pleased to join 

forces with the Confederation of australian motor 

sports (Cams) and v8 supercars in 2011 to present 

an interactive road safety-oriented game designed 

specifically to appeal to motor racing enthusiasts.

motoring enthusiasts generally were again well 

catered for with raCq motorfest, held at eagle 

farm racecourse in July.  this annual celebration 

of the motor car, combined with plenty of family 

entertainment, is now a fixture on the calendar of 

queensland motoring clubs, with more than 90 

percent of exhibitors and visitors alike at last year’s 

event indicating they would definitely be back for 

motorfest 2012.

it is important for members to appreciate that 

this statewide raCq program of support for 

communities would not happen without your  

support every time you renew your subscription  

to queensland’s largest club.

looking after the environment comes naturally these 

days to organisations that understand their corporate 

social responsibilities.  
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assisted by our staff environment committee,  

the raCq made further progress in reducing 

the environmental impacts of our own 

operations.  measures included:

• Offsetting approximately 10,000 tonnes of carbon 

dioxide emissions from our own and contractors’ 

road service fleets through the Rocky Point 

Cogeneration plant.

• Recycling, through our supplier, some 37,000 old 

batteries removed from members’ vehicles.

• A stronger emphasis on waste recycling in our 

major Brisbane office and operations sites, leading 

to an increase of around 30 percent in the overall 

amount of materials recycled.

• Increasing online delivery of The Road Ahead to  

15 percent of total circulation, thus reducing paper, 

ink, energy and transport impacts.

Putting tHe Case For motorists

similarly, your membership underwrites our advocacy 

on your behalf as motorists – not only through 

your subscriptions but also through the strength of 

numbers you lend to our ongoing efforts towards 

safe, affordable and sustainable mobility.

as the president reports, much of the Club’s advocacy 

effort is currently focused on securing motorist-

friendly (and community-positive) commitments 

from parties and candidates contesting local, state 

and federal elections.  But as 2011 illustrated, raCq 

continued to engage constructively and effectively 

with government, the automotive industry and other 

groups to protect and promote the reasonable 

interests of motorists, irrespective of electoral cycles.

With 12 may 2011 marking the start of the 

international decade of action for road safety,  

it was appropriate that your Club was actively 

involved in the organisation of its launch here in 

queensland.  the decade of action is a united 

nations’ initiative with the bold objective of reducing 

projected global road traffic deaths by half by 2020.

therefore, while welcoming australia’s new national 

road safety strategy, raCq was disappointed with 

its rather timid target of a 30 percent reduction 

in road fatalities.  it is an objective that could just 

as realistically be met through a ‘business as usual’ 

approach to improvements in roads, vehicles and road 

user behaviour, whereas we believe a more concerted 

effort by governments and communities could save 

hundreds more lives.

for raCq’s part, we continued to make a constructive  

contribution to the road safety cause last year through 

researching and promoting the most effective ways to 

achieve our objective of  ‘safer drivers in safer cars on 

safer roads’.

in march we delivered an updated australian roads 

assessment program (ausrap) report card on 

the inherent risks of queensland’s national highway 

network, highlighting the need for urgent safety 

upgrades on 16 sections of queensland’s major 

roads, including 11 on the Bruce highway.  this highly 

scientific assessment of some of the state’s major 

highways confirmed what many motorists already 

knew from their own driving experiences. however, 

we are heartened at least by recognition from the 

department of transport and main roads’ own safety 

experts of the value of the ausrap methodology 

in identifying our deadliest sections of highway, and 

determining how to cost-effectively make them safer.

as the motorists' advocate we also facilitated your say 

on hazardous roads through our latest unroadworthy 

roads survey, the results of which were brought to 

the attention of the relevant authorities.

the new queensland infrastructure plan, announced 

by the state government in July, was a step forward in 

taking a statewide approach to dealing with our road 

network deficiencies.  Regrettably, its short-term focus 

and its lack of detail left us with little confidence in 

the government’s overall commitment to making our 

roads safer and more efficient.
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In the field of motor vehicle safety, the ongoing 

support of raCq, in concert with fellow constituents 

of the australian automobile association and 

government transport agencies, in funding the 

australian new Car assessment program (anCap) 

has resulted in the vast majority of new passenger 

vehicles now having a maximum five-star rating for 

crash protection and active safety.  therefore, it was 

disappointing to have several budget-priced vehicles 

from China and india rate only two to three stars.   

the relatively low cost of these vehicles could not 

excuse their sub-standard crash performance given 

that other manufacturers are now managing to 

achieve five-star results from their entry-level vehicles.

through raCq’s relationship with so many 

queensland motorists, we continued to be in the 

unique and privileged position of not only being able 

to assist them to be safer road users through our 

wide range of education programs, but also to channel 

their road safety concerns back to government.   

apart from allowing motorists to ‘let off steam’ 

about the more annoying and dangerous habits of 

other road users, our What drives you Crazy? survey 

provided transport authorities and police with a clear 

guide to what our members believe should be their 

traffic enforcement priorities.

On the consumer protection front, our first 

satisfaction survey of new car buyers delivered a 

generally positive report card for dealers, with 85 

percent of first-time customers indicating they would 

buy from the same dealer again – rising to 95 percent 

for repeat customers.

of more ongoing concern to motorists were fuel 

prices, leading us to formally call on the australian 

Competition and Consumer Commission to 

investigate south-east queensland pump prices, which 

remain well above those in most other capital cities 

of australia.  in that context, it was pleasing at least to 

secure assurances from the federal government that 

automotive fuels (already carrying both excise and 

gst) would be exempted from the carbon tax,  

thus saving motorists an estimated six cents a litre 

every time they fill the tank.

raCq believes there are more positive and effective 

ways to sustainably reduce the negative environmental 

impacts of road systems and their use than simply 

adding more taxes to petrol and diesel.  market 

pricing of fossil fuels is already influencing a trend 

towards the purchase of more fuel-efficient cars 

and the use of alternative means of transport 

wherever possible.

With battery-powered electric cars set to have 

a more noticeable presence on our roads within 

the decade, our three-year trial of the mitsubishi 

i-miev gathered momentum in 2011, providing 

us with valuable practical experience in living with 

and providing road service to this new breed of 

vehicle.  in association with the i-miev trial we took 

delivery of a trailer-mounted battery recharging unit, 

supplied by business partner Club assist, to help 

evaluate the best way to assist members in future 

when their evs run out of ‘fuel’.

We were also pleased to secure queensland 

government funding towards the state’s most 

comprehensive research project on eco-driving.   

our public policy team is looking at how motorists 

might best be educated to change attitudes and 

behaviours in order to reduce their vehicles’ fuel 

consumption and emissions, cut their motoring costs 

and, in doing so, drive more safely.  assisted by some 

1,300 raCq members and other motorists, who 

volunteered to be part of our research cohort, the 

project had passed its half-way point by year’s end, 

with the results to be shared with the government 

later in 2012.

reCognising raCQ PeoPLe

today the raCq group directly employs about  

1,900 queenslanders and is served across the 

state by another thousand-plus who wear the 

raCq uniform and look after members as agents, 

contractors or their employees.

as an organisation built on service, raCq is fortunate 

to have within its ranks so many who share the Club’s 

‘people helping people’ ethos, regardless of whether 

they are on the front line or in support roles.

indicative of this attitude among ‘raCq people’ was 

the gift registry and fundraising instituted last year to 

assist eight fellow staff members and their families 

affected by the floods.
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proving that our employees’ charity does not 

stop at ‘home’, raCq has become guide dogs 

queensland’s largest workplace program contributor 

through donations directly from employees’ wages 

and salaries.  raCq Careflight is similarly supported.

We have also established an employee program 

through which staff can volunteer to spend a day 

working with nominated charities, such as Canteen, 

rspCa, endeavour foundation and the royal 

Children’s hospital.  

Members justifiably can feel as proud as I do of the 

people who work for them and, often, the wider 

community.  their achievements last year in tackling 

huge challenges both within and outside business 

plans are deserving of appreciation – and i duly record 

mine in this report.

i also extend my thanks to richard pietsch  

(who completed his term as president in may 2011),  

his successor, geoff leddy, and their fellow directors 

for the direction and support they consistently 

provided throughout a momentous year for raCq.

it’s your  

health club

ian giLLesPie 
Group Chief Executive Officer
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CorPorate 
goVernanCe 

statement
raCQ is CommitteD to oPerating its 
business etHiCaLLy anD WitH HigH 
stanDarDs oF CorPorate goVernanCe, 
aPPLieD aPProPriateLy to raCQ’s 
CirCumstanCes.  

raCq has established a governance framework 

based on the asX Corporate governance 

Council’s Corporate governance principles and 

recommendations.  although not a listed entity, 

raCq is a public company and the Board endorses 

the view that these principles form a sound platform 

for corporate governance practices.  

the following sets out the corporate governance 

framework the Board has adopted to ensure that  

the interests of members are protected.

2011 key areas oF FoCus anD 
aCHieVements

• Oversight of strategic initiatives including long term 

technology strategy and advancement.

• Governance review to ensure the foundations are 

in place for a highly skilled and effective Board now 

and in the future.

• Group strategy review focussed on achieving 

optimal outcomes for members from the broader 

raCq group.  

tHe raCQ grouP

the raCq group comprises a number of entities that 

enable its effective operation.  the key entities are:

• The Royal Automobile Club of Queensland 

limited (raCq), the parent entity of the group, 

which is a mutual owned by over 1.2 million 

raCq members;

• RACQ Insurance Limited, a wholly owned 

subsidiary within the group, providing insurance 

products; and

• Club Insurance Holdings Pty Ltd, which is 

interposed between raCq insurance limited 

and other entities within the raCq group, 

and is authorised for apra purposes as a non 

operating holding Company.

members
assuranCe

strong internal  
and external  

audit functions

a robust framework 
for delegation  
of authority

Clear accountability 
and reporting 

guidelines

FrameWork

a highly skilled and 
experienced Board 
with all independent 

directors

external legislation, 
standards and codes

internal policies  
and procedures

a competent  
and diverse 

management team

auDit & risk management 
Committee

areas of responsibility:  
audit (internal and external), 
compliance, risk management

goVernanCe & 
remuneration Committee

areas of responsibility:  
Corporate governance and 

remuneration practices and policies

grouP CHieF exeCutiVe oFFiCer

the Board delegates powers to the group Ceo  
for day to day management of the company

asset & CorPorate 
Committee

areas of responsibility:  
investment policy and portfolios

raCQ boarD

grouP exeCutiVe

tHe raCQ goVernanCe FrameWork

the corporate governance framework is designed to accommodate the operational and regulatory frameworks 

within which the raCq group operates.  
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tHe boarDs oF DireCtors

roles and responsibilities of the board

each entity within the raCq group is governed  

by its own Board, with the raCq Board being 

responsible for the overall strategic direction of the 

group.  the Boards oversee and provide guidance to 

management with the aim of protecting and enhancing 

long-term member value, and are responsible for 

creating and delivering products and benefits through 

effective governance practices.  each Board within the 

raCq group has adopted a formal Board Charter 

that details the structure, roles and responsibilities  

of the Board.  

the key functions of the Boards include:

• overseeing the development of and approving the 

annual business plan, and ensuring it aligns with the 

group’s strategic plan;

• reviewing and approving the annual budget 

consistent with the business plan;

• overseeing and monitoring organisational 

performance; 

• overseeing and monitoring significant corporate 

initiatives such as acquisitions, divestments  

and funding;

• ensuring the significant risks facing the RACQ 

Group have been identified and appropriate and 

adequate control, monitoring, accountability and 

reporting mechanisms are in place; and

• enhancing and protecting the reputation of the 

raCq group.

it’s your  

relaxation club

CorPorate 
goVernanCe 
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boarD ComPosition 

the raCq Constitution provides for members 

to have representation on the raCq Board from 

across the state.  details of the skills, experience and 

expertise of each RACQ Director in office at the date 

of this report are set out on page 26 and 27.  

a number of directors hold positions on more than 

one Board across the group.  this crossover ensures 

that each Board has an awareness of raCq group 

operations and that decision-making is undertaken 

with a holistic view in line with group strategy, 

direction and values.

the Chairman is responsible for leadership of the 

Board and ensuring the Board performs its roles 

and functions.  the Chairman is also responsible for 

facilitating the effective contribution of directors by 

encouraging each director to fully participate in the 

Board’s activities.  the roles of Chairman and Chief 

Executive Officer (CEO) are separate for each Board.  

inDePenDenCe oF tHe raCQ boarD

all Board members on the raCq Board are 

independent non-executive directors.  in assessing the 

independence of each director, the Board considers 

whether any relationships exist that would materially 

affect the director’s ability to exercise unfettered and 

independent judgment in the interests of raCq and 

its members.  

boarD meetings

the Boards meet on a regular basis, and include 

in meeting agendas items such as strategy, financial 

matters and major risk areas.  directors apply their 

independent judgment in decision-making when 

considering these items.  senior managers attend 

Board meetings from time to time to present 

operational reviews for their business areas.

RACQ Directors

geoff leddy (Chair)

nigel alexander (deputy Chair)

fay Barker

anthony gambling

dennis howe

elizabeth Jameson

stephen maitland

Bronwyn morris

Karl Morris

richard pietsch

Club Insurance Holdings Board

geoff leddy (Chair)

nigel alexander

ian gillespie (raCq group 

and Cih Ceo)

stephen maitland

richard pietsch

RACQ Insurance Directors

richard pietsch (Chair)

nigel alexander

ian gillespie (raCq group 

and Cih Ceo)

neville ide

raymond Jones

geoff leddy

stephen maitland

melvyn tozer

raCQ grouP boarD members

inDuCtion anD Continuing eDuCation

new directors undergo an induction program that 

includes the provision of company documentation, 

discussions with the senior management team and 

undertaking of operational familiarisation activities.

all directors are encouraged to undertake 

continuing professional development and are 

assisted to attend industry seminars and educational 

courses that serve to enhance their performance as 

directors.  membership of the australian institute of 

RACQ Board

- audit and risk management 

Committee 

- governance and 

remuneration Committee

- asset and Corporate 

Committee

- Joint Boards sub Committee

Club Insurance Holdings Board

- audit Committee 

- Cih utilises the raCq 

governance and 

remuneration Committee

RACQ Insurance Board

- audit risk and Compliance 

Committee 

- governance and 

remuneration Committee

- investment Committee

- Joint Boards sub Committee
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Company directors and participation in the institute’s 

courses on the role and duties of directors is actively 

encouraged.  Continuing directors also participate in 

operational familiarisation programs to maintain and 

enhance their understanding of the business.

aCCess to inDePenDent  
ProFessionaL aDViCe

each director, subject to prior approval of the 

Chairman, may seek independent professional advice 

in connection with the discharge of their duties as 

directors.  the raCq group will pay the cost of  

this independent advice.

boarD Committees

the key Boards have established committees that  

assist them to discharge their responsibilities and  

increase their effectiveness.  the roles and responsibilities  

of each committee are set out in the respective 

Committee Charters, which are regularly reviewed.

etHiCaL anD resPonsibLe  
DeCision making

Code of Conduct

all directors, senior management and employees 

are required to conduct themselves with the highest 

ethical standards of corporate behaviour.  Codes of 

Conduct have been adopted, which are provided to 

directors and employees to guide decision-making in 

day-to-day work.  

the director Code of Conduct requires directors  

to behave ethically, act within the law, avoid conflicts  

of interest, and act honestly in all business activities.  

 the employee Code of Conduct sets out the 

principles and standards with which all employees 

are required to comply in the performance of their 

respective functions.

Whistleblowing and Concern reporting

raCq strongly values trust, integrity and honesty, 

and has a zero-tolerance approach to inappropriate 

behaviour such as unethical or fraudulent conduct, 

regulatory non-compliance and unsafe work 

practices.  a group Whistleblower policy and a 

whistleblower hotline have been adopted to enable 

staff to confidentially report such conduct without 

fear of being personally disadvantaged by making  

such a report.  

employees are also encouraged to bring any 

employment-related grievances, discrimination  

or harassment to the attention of management  

or the human resources department.

CommuniCation

to carry out its responsibility to govern on 

behalf of members, the raCq Board recognises 

the importance of members receiving relevant 

information in a timely manner.  

members receive information from raCq through 

distribution of  the road ahead magazine, the annual 

report, the Chairman’s address to the annual general 

meeting, regular members’ newsletters, media releases 

and the raCq website.

Copies of all media releases and the raCq annual 

report are posted on the raCq’s website.  

annuaL generaL meeting

members have the opportunity to raise matters  

with the raCq Board at the annual general 

meeting.  the external auditor attends the annual 

general meeting and is available to answer questions 

from members regarding the conduct of the audit, the 

auditor’s independence, the preparation and content 

of the auditor’s report, and accounting policies 

adopted by raCq for the preparation of  

the financial statements.

CorPorate 
goVernanCe 

statement
continued
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risk management

risk management Framework 

RACQ has a structured approach to the identification 

and management of risk.  Risk is identified and 

assessed within this framework and all executives  

are accountable for managing risk within their area  

of responsibility.  

RACQ has specific policies and processes that deal with 

the key areas of strategic risk, financial risk, operational 

risk and compliance risk.  these cover areas such as 

financial management, business operations, human 

resources requirements, compliance and regulatory 

obligations, business continuity, whistleblowing and 

workplace health and safety.

the audit and risk Committees oversee the 

framework to ensure risk is managed within the 

risk appetite of the raCq group.  management 

regularly reports to the Board, through the audit 

and risk Committees, as to the effectiveness of 

risk management and the operation of the risk 

management framework.  

internal audit

the raCq internal audit department brings 

a systematic and disciplined approach to risk 

management, control and governance processes, 

and has full and unrestricted access to all personnel, 

Company records and other documentation.   

the raCq internal audit plan is prepared taking 

into account the above risk management approach.   

the annual internal audit plan is approved by the 

relevant audit and risk Committee with results, 

progress and performance regularly reviewed by  

both the Committees and external auditors.

statement by grouP Ceo anD grouP CFo

as part of the raCq Board approval of the raCq 

Group annual financial report, both the RACQ Group 

Chief Executive Officer and Group Chief Financial 

Officer are required to state to the RACQ Board, in 

writing, that the financial report presents a true and 

fair view, in all material respects, of the entity’s financial 

condition and operational results and is in accordance 

with relevant accounting standards.

remuneration anD PerFormanCe

under the raCq Constitution, the members 

determine the aggregate annual remuneration 

payable to the raCq directors.  the raCq Board 

determines the structure of payments to directors 

to ensure an appropriate and equitable distribution 

occurs.  raCq insurance directors are remunerated 

by raCq insurance.  directors are entitled to 

be paid reasonable travelling and other expenses 

incurred in connection with attendances at Board and 

Committee meetings, or otherwise in connection with 

the business of raCq.

senior management remuneration is determined 

by reference to market information supplied by an 

independent expert.

boarD assessments

the Boards have adopted an assessment process 

to measure their own performance and the 

performance of the committees each financial year.  

the evaluation process includes input from all 

directors and some management input with a view 

to continuously improve governance.

senior management assessments

raCq has in place a formal performance 

management system for all members of senior 

management.  half-yearly each member of senior 

management discusses his or her performance with 

the group Ceo.  a performance evaluation for all 

members of senior management took place for the 

reporting period in accordance with this system.   

the Board is responsible for assessing the 

performance of the group Ceo.  

Website

information about the raCq Board, the raCq 

Constitution and By-laws can be found on the raCq 

website racq.com under the heading About Us.
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raCQ DireCtors anD oFFiCers
as at 31 deCemBer 2011

Geoffrey C Leddy Btech(Civil), lge, gdm, faiCd

president and Chairman and member of the 

governance and remuneration Committee 

(director, Wide Bay-sunshine Coast Zone, since 

1998). mr leddy has extensive experience as a 

consulting engineer and company director and is 

Chairman of Club insurance holdings pty ltd and  

also a director of raCq insurance limited and 

the australian automobile association. 

Nigel WF Alexander BBus, mappfin, Cpa, faiCd

vice president and deputy Chairman and 

member of the asset and Corporate Committee. 

Chairman Joint Boards sub Committee 

overseeing the implementation of raCq’s new 

it system (director, south east Zone, since 2000). 

also a director of raCq insurance limited and 

Club insurance holdings pty ltd. mr alexander 

is a qualified accountant, having previously worked in corporate 

finance roles with both Australian and international banks. He is a 

corporate agribusiness specialist and is the managing director of 

north australian pastoral Company pty limited.

Fay L Barker oam, faiCd   

member of the asset and Corporate Committee 

(director, north Zone, since 2001). ms Barker is 

a member of the Board of trustees Breakwater 

Island Casino Community Benefit Fund and 

townsville hospital foundation and a former 

townsville City Councillor. her other current 

directorships include Chair of the Benefactors of 

the good shepherd nursing homes limited, Chair of the virginia 

Chadwick memorial foundation and a member of the audit 

Committee of the great Barrier reef marine park authority.

Anthony (Tony) M Gambling BBus, Becon, mBa, asa, 

maiCd, Jp (qual)

Chairman of the asset and Corporate 

Committee (director, Central Zone, since 2005). 

mr gambling is general manager of mango 

4 Office Technology and a former director of 

companies involved in the commercialisation 

of emerging technologies. he also sits on the 

Central queensland Committee of the australian 

institute of Company directors.

Dennis G Howe oam, faim

Chairman of the audit and risk management 

Committee (director, far north Zone, since 

2001). mr howe is managing director of aus 

mining personnel pty ltd and the honorary 

swedish Consul for north queensland. mr 

howe’s previous roles include managing director 

skywest and east-West airlines, deputy Chief 

Executive Officer Australian Airlines, Chairman Skytrans Airlines,  

and Board member Cairns port authority.

Elizabeth M Jameson ll.B (hons i), Ba, faiCd 

member of the governance and remuneration 

Committee, and audit and risk management 

Committee (director, south east Zone, since 

2008). ms Jameson is the principal and founder of 

corporate governance consultancy Board matters 

Pty Ltd and associated firm Board Matters Legal 

(since 2002). ms Jameson is a former partner 

with national law firm Deacons (corporate/commercial division) 

and is Chair of fibrecycle pty ltd, Brisbane girls grammar school 

and Bdo group holdings pty ltd. in april 2010 she also became a 

member of the federal government appointed Board of taxation.

Stephen J Maitland oam, rfd, Bec, mBus, llm, faiCd, fCpa, 

fCis, faim, ffin

member of the audit and risk management 

Committee (director, south east Zone, since 

2008). Mr Maitland is a qualified accountant and 

company secretary and the principal of corporate 

advisory firm Delphin Associates. He was Chief 

Executive Officer of the Queensland Office of 

financial supervision (1992 to 1999) and had a 

20-year career in corporate banking. mr maitland is also Chairman 

of the surf lifesaving foundation and a director of raCq 

insurance limited, Club insurance holdings pty ltd, australian unity 

limited, Buderim ginger limited, Centrepoint alliance ltd and 

several private companies.
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Bronwyn K Morris BCom, fCa, faiCd

Chairman of the governance and remuneration 

Committee, and member of the audit and risk 

management Committee (director, south east 

Zone, since 2008). ms morris specialised for 

more than 20 years as a chartered accountant 

in audit and corporate services. she now serves 

as a director of a number of entities including 

qiC limited, spotless group limited, Children’s health foundation 

queensland and Collins foods limited. ms morris is a queensland 

Councillor of the australian institute of Company directors and is  

a former Councillor of Bond university.

Karl D Morris BCom, msaa, faiCd, ffin

member of the asset and Corporate Committee 

(director, south east Zone, since 2010). mr 

morris is executive Chairman of ord minnett ltd 

and has a 20-year career in financial services and 

wealth management. mr morris is a Board and 

master member of the stockbrokers association 

of australia ltd, a Board member of the sydney 

Catholic archdiocese finance and development fund Committees, 

queensland theatre Company, member of the lord mayor's 

Business roundtable and also serves as a director of notre dame 

university of australia.

Richard J Pietsch oam, faiCd

member of the governance and remuneration 

Committee (director, south West Zone, since 

1997), Chairman of raCq insurance limited  

and the raCq foundation pty ltd and a 

director of Club insurance holdings pty ltd. 

a grazier, mr pietsch is also a director of the 

australian stud sheep Breeders association 

limited and president of agforce sheep and Wool Board. he was 

deputy mayor of the former inglewood shire Council.

grouP CHieF exeCutiVe oFFiCer

Ian A Gillespie Ba, dip laws (BaB), CCeo, maiCd, faim

mr gillespie is a director of raCq insurance 

limited, Club insurance holdings pty ltd, raCq 

foundation pty ltd, Club assist Corporation pty 

ltd, australian automobile association, australian 

motoring services pty ltd,  assist australia pty 

ltd, ams rewards pty ltd,  aaa tourism pty 

ltd, Club Consortium pty ltd, Confederation 

of australian motor sport and a member of the Board of the 

global mobility alliance.  prior to joining raCq, mr gillespie spent 

30 years working in a broad range of industries in australia and 

internationally at Ceo and senior executive level.

ComPany seCretary

Paul V Williams llB, adipBus, mBus (mgt), 

ftia, maiCd, mqls

mr Williams was appointed Company 

secretary on 24 november 2009. mr Williams 

is the executive general manager Corporate 

governance and has practised as a solicitor for 

more than 25 years. mr Williams is a director and 

a Company secretary of raCq autoglass pty ltd and the raCq 

foundation pty ltd and was the Company secretary of raCq 

insurance limited from 1994 to 2004.

oFFiCers WHo Were PreViousLy Partners oF  
tHe auDit Firm
Bronwyn Morris was an officer of the Company during the  

financial year and was previously a partner of the current audit  

firm, KPMG (retired 1996), at a time when KPMG undertook an 

audit of the Company.

grouP exeCutiVe

Group Chief Executive Officer – Ian A Gillespie  

Ba, dip laws (BaB), CCeo, maiCd, faim

RACQ Insurance Limited Chief Executive Officer  
– Bradley Heath B.Bus acc, gaiCd

Group Chief Financial Officer – Leanne M Muller  
BCom, gdip fin & inv, aCa

Chief Information Officer – Bruce E Rice

Chief Operations Officer – Glenn A Toms  

BBus, gdip fin & inv, ffin, faim

Executive General Manager Corporate Governance 
– Paul V Williams llB, adipBus, mBus (mgt), ftia, maiCd, 

mqls

Executive General Manager External Relations  
– Paul Turner gaiCd

Executive General Manager Marketing  
– Ian L Mitchell dip tech (mgt), faiCd

Executive General Manager People  
– Rolanda Z Ayling Bed (secondary), gaiCd
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tHe DireCtors Present tHeir rePort 
togetHer WitH tHe FinanCiaL rePort 
oF tHe royaL automobiLe CLub oF 
QueensLanD LimiteD (raCQ) anD tHe 
ConsoLiDateD FinanCiaL rePort oF tHe 
ConsoLiDateD entity, being tHe raCQ 
anD its ControLLeD entities, For tHe 
year enDeD 31 DeCember 2011 anD tHe 
auDitor’s rePort.

DireCtors

the following persons were Directors of the raCQ 
during the whole of the financial year:

geoffrey C Leddy (Chairman);

nigel W F alexander (Deputy Chairman);

Fay L barker;

anthony m gambling;

Dennis g Howe;

elizabeth m Jameson;

stephen J maitland;

bronwyn k morris; 

karl D morris; and

richard J Pietsch.

Further information on the current raCQ 
Directors is contained in the raCQ Directors and 
Officers section of this Annual Report on pages 26 
and 27.  This section also includes their qualifications, 
experience and particular responsibilities.

DireCtors’ meetings

the number of raCQ board meetings and its 
Committee meetings, and each raCQ Director’s 
attendance at those meetings during the financial 
year, are set out on page 30.

the number of raCQ insurance board meetings 
and its Committee meetings, and each raCQ 
Director’s attendance at those meetings during the 
financial years, are also set out on page 30.

DireCtors’ 
report

strategy anD obJeCtiVes

the raCQ’s primary objective, in both the short 
and the long term, is to sustainably maximise the 
value of benefits provided to its members.  To 
achieve this, raCQ regularly reviews the range and 
structure of its products, services and benefits, and 
pursues a number of growth and diversification 
strategies to further expand and deepen these, 
and to ensure that products, services and benefits 
offered remain meaningful, relevant and compelling.

the raCQ measures its performance against its 
objectives with a range of indicators, including 
member retention rates, member satisfaction rates, 
and the utilisation of products and services by 
members.

PrinCiPaL aCtiVities 

the principal activities of the raCQ are detailed 
in the President’s overview and the group Chief 
Executive Officer’s Operational Report. These 
activities assist the raCQ achieve its objectives 
by continuing to provide its members with the 
many benefits they have previously received, and by 
building the raCQ’s capacity to improve on these in 
the future. 

reVieW oF oPerations (oPerating anD 
FinanCiaL reVieW)

the net results of operations of the raCQ and 
controlled entities, after tax and after making 
adequate provision for depreciation and all known 
contingencies, was a surplus of $69 million (2010 – 
surplus of $236.6 million). a review of operations 
is contained in the President’s overview and the 
Group Chief Executive Officer’s Operational Report, 
including membership, assistance products and 
services, roadside assistance, advocacy, travel, touring 
activities and insurance activities. 
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DireCtors’ interests

since the previous year, no director of the raCq 

has received or become entitled to receive a benefit 

(other than a benefit included in the aggregate 

amount of emoluments received or receivable by 

raCq directors shown in the notes to the accounts) 

by reason of a contract made by the raCq or a  

related corporation with a director or with a company  

in which he or she has a substantial financial interest. 

directors may obtain membership, insurance services 

and other services from the raCq group on the 

same terms and conditions as those obtained by  

all employees. 

enVironmentaL reguLations

the raCq’s operations are not subject to any 

significant environmental regulations under either 

Commonwealth or state legislation.  however, the 

directors believe that the raCq has adequate 

systems in place for the management of its 

environmental requirements and are not aware 

of any reportable breach of those environmental 

requirements as they apply to the raCq.

inDemniFiCation anD insuranCe  
oF oFFiCers 

the raCq has entered into an agreement with 

all current directors, some former directors and 

certain present and former executives of the raCq 

to indemnify them to the extent permitted by law 

against all liabilities that may arise from their position 

in the raCq or a controlled entity of the raCq.

The RACQ holds a Directors’ and Officers’ Liability 

insurance policy on behalf of current and former 

Directors and Officers of the RACQ and its 

controlled entities. the directors have not included 

details of the nature of the liabilities covered, the 

limit of liabilities covered, or the amount of premium 

paid in respect of the Directors’ and Officers’ Liability 

insurance contract, as such disclosure is prohibited 

under the terms of the contract. 

members’ guarantee

the raCq is a company limited by guarantee and has 

no share capital.  in the event of winding up, members 

are liable to the amount of $2.10 per member.  

raCq has 1,359,807 guaranteeing members resulting 

in a total contribution of $2,855,594.70 upon 

winding up.

auDitor’s inDePenDenCe DeCLaration

the auditor’s independence declaration is set out  

on page 91 (of the financial report) and forms  

part of the directors’ report for the year ended  

31 december 2011. 

rounDing oFF

the raCq is a company of a kind referred to in 

ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998, and 

in accordance with that Class order, amounts in the 

consolidated financial report have been rounded  

off to the nearest one thousand dollars, unless 

otherwise indicated.

signed in accordance with a resolution of the  

raCq directors.

geoffrey C leddy

President

20 march 2012
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boarD & Committee meetings attenDanCe 2011

Director Board Asset &  
Corporate 
Committee

Audit & Risk  
Management 
Committee

Governance 
and 

Remuneration 
Committee

Club  
Insurance 
Holdings  

Board

Joint Boards  
Sub Committee

 A B A B A B A B A B A B

mr n W f 
alexander 11 10 6 5 * * * * 8 7 7 7

ms f l Barker 11 11 6 6 * * * * * * * *

mr a m 
gambling 11 11 6 6 * * * * * * 7 7

mr d g howe 11 11 * * 4 4 * * * * * *

ms e m Jameson 11 10 * * 3 2 6 5 * * * *

mr g C leddy 11 11 * * * * 6 6 8 8 * *

mr s J maitland 11 9 * * 4 4 * * 8 8 * *

Ms B K Morris 11 10 * * 4 4 6 6 * * 7 6

Mr K D Morris 11 11 6 6 * * * * * * * *

mr r J pietsch 11 11 * * * * 6 6 8 8 * *

raCQ insuranCe boarD & Committee meetings attenDanCe 2011

Director RACQ Insurance

Board

Audit, Risk and 
Compliance 
Committee

Investment 
Committee

Governance and 
Remuneration 

Committee

Joint Boards  
Sub Committee

A B A B A B A B A B

mr r J pietsch 8 8 * * * * 5 5 * *

mr n W f 
alexander 8 8 4 4 * * * * 7 7

mr i a gillespie 8 8 * * 5 4 * * 7 5

mr n J ide 8 8 4 4 5 5 * * * *

mr r l Jones 8 8 * * 5 5 5 5 * *

mr g C leddy 8 8 * * * * 5 5 * *

mr s J maitland 8 8 4 3 * * * * * *

mr m J tozer 8 8 4 4 * * * * 7 7

A = Number of meetings held during the reporting period, whilst the Director held office. 

B = number of meetings attended. 

* not a member of the relevant Board or Committee.

DireCtors’ 
report

continued
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RACQ and  
controlled entities

2011 2010
Note $’000 $’000

revenue 3 1,086,106 616,212

expenses

insurance claims expense 2(a) (600,348) (129,799)

outwards reinsurance premium expense (75,716) (20,732)

underwriting and acquisition costs (68,626) (42,584)

advertising and promotions (4,707) (9,865)

Communication and information technology (14,997) (12,693)

personnel expenses 4(b) (99,949) (89,638)

motor vehicles (3,653) (3,874)

payments to contractors for roadside assistance and provision of  
other member services

(48,884) (46,877)

property and related costs (11,301) (11,177)

amortisation of intangible assets 4(a) (22,508) (13,074)

other expenses (45,928) (8,800)

results from operating activities 89,489 227,099

share of net profit of associate accounted for using the equity method 13 – 27,120

finance expenses (1,978) (4,443)

surplus/(deficiency) before income tax 87,511 249,776

Income tax benefit/(expense) 5 (18,316) (13,148)

surplus/(deficiency) for the period 69,195 236,628

other comprehensive income

Net change gain / (loss) in fair value of financial assets held as available-for-sale (213) (10,412)

Change in fair value of financial assets sold held as available-for-sale gain / (loss) 292 (32,566)

Income tax (expense) / benefit on income and expenses recognised directly in equity 5 (220) 12,893

other comprehensive income for the period, net of income tax (141) (30,085)

total comprehensive income for the year 69,054  206,543

The statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 36 to 87.

statement of Comprehensive inCome  
for the year ended 31 december 2011
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RACQ and  
controlled entities

2011 2010
Note $’000 $’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 37,478 38,086

trade and other receivables 7 132,944 118,601

reinsurance and other recoveries receivable 8 111,018 53,062

investments 10 514,312 406,322

deferred acquisition costs and reinsurance assets 9 62,498 38,592

inventories 11 713 831

other current assets 12 3,615 1,150

Current tax receivable 10,842 –

total current assets 873,420 656,644

non-current assets

investments 10 689,830 781,558

investment property 14 13,767 14,092

property, plant and equipment 16 130,068 81,709

intangible assets 17 303,423 315,666

reinsurance and other recoveries receivable 8 104,306 76,504

total non-current assets 1,241,394 1,269,529

total assets 2,114,814 1,926,173

Current liabilities

trade and other payables 18 66,187 41,884

unearned revenue 19 364,317 350,299

outstanding claims liability 20 297,496 294,060

Current tax payable – 32,600

employee benefits 22 16,418 14,324

total current liabilities 744,418 733,167

non-current liabilities

outstanding claims liability 20 502,034 395,163

employee benefits 22 3,430 2,803

deferred tax liabilities 15 3,888 3,153

total non-current liabilities 509,352 401,119

total liabilities 1,253,770 1,134,286

net assets 861,044 791,887

accumulated funds

reserves 23 5,049 5,190

retained surplus 24 855,995 786,697

total accumulated funds 861,044 791,887

The balance sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 36 to 87.

BalanCe sheet  
as at 31 december 2011
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RACQ and  
controlled entities

2011 2010
Note $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

subscriptions and entrance fees received 129,768 130,978

insurance premiums received 671,406 232,179

reinsurance and other recoveries received 157,251 22,985

distribution and services charge – raCq insurance limited – 31,351

other cash receipts in the course of operations 39,382 34,691

Cash payments in the course of operations (904,939) (352,443)

income taxes paid (61,024) (19,082)

net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 34(ii) 31,844 80,659

Cash flows from investing activities

interest received 66,445 32,230

dividends received 1,147 2,817

rentals received 2,314 3,074

payments for investments (1,250,083) (3,668,067)

proceeds from sale of investments 1,220,810 3,790,510

acquisition of associate, net of cash acquired – (177,943)

payments for intangible assets (16,694) (2,600)

payments for property, plant and equipment (57,309) (27,636)

proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 918 780

net cash (used in) / provided by investing activities (32,452) (46,835)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held (608) 33,824

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 38,086 4,262

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 34(i) 37,478 38,086

The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 36 to 87.

statement of Cash floWs  
for the year ended 31 december 2011
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RACQ and controlled entities

Investment 
revaluation reserve

General 
reserve

Retained 
surplus

Total 
equity

2011 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 5,190 – 786,697 791,887

surplus for the year – – 69,195 69,195

other comprehensive income for the year (141) – – (141)

foundation fund prior year retained earnings – –  103  103

balance at end of year 5,049 – 855,995 861,044

RACQ and controlled entities 

Investment 
revaluation reserve

General 
reserve

Retained 
surplus

Total 
equity

2010 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 35,275 42,197 507,872 585,344

surplus for the year – – 236,628 236,628

other comprehensive income for the year (30,085) –  – (30,085)

transfer of general reserve to retained earnings – (42,197)  42,197 –

balance at end of year 5,190 – 786,697 791,887

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 36 to 87. 

statement of Changes in equity  
for the year ended 31 december 2011
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1 signiFiCant aCCounting PoLiCies

the royal automobile Club of queensland limited (the Company) is a company domiciled in australia.  the address of the Company’s 
registered office is 2649 logan road, eight mile plains, queensland, 4113.  the consolidated financial statements of the Company as at  
and for the year ended 31 december 2011 comprises the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the ‘consolidated entity’) 
and the consolidated entity’s interest in associates.

the consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 20 march 2012.

(a) Statement of compliance

the financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with australian accounting  
standards (including australian interpretations) adopted by the australian accounting standards Board and the Corporations act 
2001.  the consolidated financial report of the consolidated entity complies with international financial reporting standards and 
interpretations adopted by the international accounting standards Board.

(b) Basis of preparation

the consolidated financial statements are presented in australian dollars and have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for  
the following assets are measured at fair value:

• Available-for-sale financial assets

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

• assets backing general insurance liabilities

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class Order,  
amounts in the consolidated financial report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

a number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2012, 
and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements.  none of these are expected to  have a significant effect 
on the consolidated financial statements of the consolidated entity, except for aasB9 financial instruments (which becomes mandatory 
for the consolidated entity’s 2015 consolidated financial statements), which could change the classification and measurement of financial 
assets.  the consolidated entity does not plan to adopt these standards early and the extent of the impact has not been determined.  

(c) Basis of consolidation

(i) subsidiaries

subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company.  Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so  
as to obtain benefits from its activities.  in assessing control, potential voting rights that are currently exercisable are taken into account.   
the financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences  
until the date that control ceases.  

(ii) investments in associates

associates are those entities in which the consolidated entity has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating 
policies.  significant influence is presumed to exist when the consolidated entity holds between 20 and 50 percent of the voting power  
of another entity.  Jointly controlled entities are those entities over whose activities the consolidated entity has joint control, established  
by contractual agreement and requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and operating decisions.  

notes to the finanCial statements  
for the year ended 31 december 2011
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notes to the finanCial statements  
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(c) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(ii) investments in associates (continued)

associates and jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method (equity accounted investees) and are initially 
recognised at cost.  the consolidated entity’s investment includes goodwill identified on acquisition net of any accumulated impairment 
losses.  the consolidated financial statements include the consolidated entity’s share of the income and expenses and equity movements 
of equity accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the consolidated entity, from the date that 
significant influence or joint control commences until the date that significant influence or joint control ceases.  When the consolidated 
entity’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investee, the carrying amount of that interest (including any long-term 
investments) is reduced to nil, and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the consolidated entity has  
an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

movements in reserves are recognised directly in consolidated reserves.  dividends received are recognised as a reduction in the carrying 
value of the investment.

(iii) transactions eliminated on consolidation

intra-group balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements.  unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity accounted investees are eliminated against 
the investment to the extent of the consolidated entity’s interest in the investee.  unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as 
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.  

(d) Business combinations

the acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the consolidated entity.  

the cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given and liabilities assumed by the consolidated entity at the date of 
acquisition.  transaction costs that the consolidated entity incurs in connection with a business combination, such as legal fees, due diligence 
fees, and other professional and consulting fees, are expensed as incurred.  

the subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.  if the cost  
of acquisition is more than the fair value of the consolidated entity’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired, the excess is recorded  
as goodwill.  

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and call deposits.  Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral 
part of the consolidated entity’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the 
statement of cash flows.

(f) Trade and other receivables

trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  subsequent to initial 
recognition, receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.  

receivables are impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred.  all significant receivables are individually assessed 
for impairment.  non-significant receivables are not individually assessed.  instead, impairment testing is performed by placing non-significant 
receivables in portfolios of similar risk profiles, based on historical trends of the probability of default, adjusted for any effects of conditions 
existing at each balance date.

an impairment loss in calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate.  receivables with a short duration are not discounted.  losses are recognised in profit or 
loss and reflected in an allowance account against receivables.  
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(g) Financial instruments

financial assets are recognised initially on the trade date at which the consolidated entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument.  the consolidated entity derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from that asset expire, 
or it transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset.  

(i) Available-for-sale financial assets

the consolidated entity’s investments in equity securities and certain debt securities are classified as available-for-sale financial 
assets.  subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair values and changes therein, other than impairment losses, are recognised 
directly in other comprehensive income and presented within equity in the investment revaluation reserve.  When an investment is 
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to profit or loss.

impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by transferring the cumulative loss that has been recognised in 
other comprehensive income, and presented in the investment revaluation reserve in equity, to profit or loss.  the cumulative loss that 
is recognised in profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost and the current value, less any impairment loss previously 
recognised in profit or loss.  

(ii)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

a financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is held for trading or is designated as such upon initial 
recognition.  financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss if the consolidated entity manages such investments 
and makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the consolidated entity’s documented investment 
strategy.  upon initial recognition, transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.  financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognised in profit or loss.  

(iii) assets backing general insurance liabilities

the consolidated entity has designated financial assets held in portfolios that broadly match the average duration of a corresponding 
insurance liability as assets backing general insurance liabilities.  assets backing general insurance liabilities are designated at fair value 
through profit or loss as they are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the documented 
investment strategy.  these financial assets include investments that comprise government and corporate bonds, mortgage backed securities, 
other interest bearing financial assets and related investment receivables held in an investment portfolio intended to meet insurance 
liabilities and receivables due from policyholders, intermediaries and reinsurers.

insurance receivables are valued at fair value which is approximated by taking the initially recognised amount and reducing it for 
impairment as appropriate.  reinsurance receivables are individually assessed for impairment.  other recoveries receivable are not 
individually assessed.  instead, a collective assessment of impairment is performed based on objective evidence from historical experience 
adjusted for any effects of conditions existing at each balance date.  

(iv)  Derivative financial instruments

the consolidated entity holds derivative financial instruments to manage its interest rate and credit risk exposure within the insurance 
investment portfolios.  

derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value, excluding transaction costs.  Changes in the fair values of derivative 
financial instruments are recognised in profit or loss.  

the external investment manager is required to regularly report on compliance with the use of derivatives.

notes to the finanCial statements  
for the year ended 31 december 2011

38



notes to the finanCial statements  
for the year ended 31 december 2011

1 signiFiCant aCCounting PoLiCies (ContinueD)

(h) Deferred insurance assets

(i) Deferred acquisition costs

acquisition costs incurred in obtaining and recording general insurance contracts are deferred and recognised as assets when they can 
be reliably measured and where it is probable that they will give rise to premium revenue that will be recognised in profit or loss in 
subsequent reporting periods.

deferred acquisition costs are amortised systematically in accordance with the expected pattern of the incidence of risk under the general 
insurance contracts to which they relate.  this pattern of amortisation corresponds to the earning pattern of the corresponding premium revenue.

deferred acquisition costs are recognised as assets to the extent that the related unearned premiums exceed the sum of the deferred 
acquisition cost and the present value of expected future claims, including an appropriate risk margin.  Where there is a shortfall, the 
deferred acquisition cost asset is written down and if insufficient, additional liability is recognised.  refer note 1(q).

(ii) Prepaid reinsurance premiums

the amortisation of prepaid reinsurance premiums is in accordance with the pattern of reinsurance service received.  the amount deferred 
represents the future economic benefit to be received from reinsurance contracts.  

(i) Inventories

inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

net realisable value is the estimated selling price, less the estimated costs of marketing, selling and distribution expenses.

(j) Investment Property

investment property comprises investment interests in land and buildings held for the purpose of either capital appreciation or to earn 
rental income, or both.  the consolidated entity has chosen the cost model approach in accounting for investment properties.  accordingly 
investment properties are recorded at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

investment properties are depreciated on a straight line basis at 2.5% per annum.  external valuations by independent valuers are obtained 
every three years and on an annual basis management assess the properties for impairment.

(k) Property, plant and equipment

(i) recognition and measurement

items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  Cost includes 
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

(ii) subsequent costs

the cost of replacing an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the 
future economic benefits embodied within the property, plant and equipment will flow to the consolidated entity, and its cost can be 
measured reliably.  the costs of day-to-day servicing and maintaining of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss  
as incurred.  

(iii) Depreciation

depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives.  land is not depreciated.  the depreciation 
rates used for each class of asset in the current and comparative periods are as follows:

useful Life

• Buildings (investment and owner occupied) 40 years

• plant and equipment 3-20 years

depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date.

raCq annual report 2011      39



1 signiFiCant aCCounting PoLiCies (ContinueD)

(l) Intangible assets

(i) recognition and measurement

goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  

other intangible assets that are acquired by the consolidated entity and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.  

Where an intangible asset is acquired in a business combination, the cost of the asset is its fair value at the acquisition date.  

(ii) subsequent expenditure

subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it 
relates.  all other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  

(iii) amortisation

amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a discounted cashflow basis, estimated claims runoff basis or a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of intangible assets, other than goodwill.  the amortisation bases used for each class of asset are as follows:

basis useful Life

• Customer contracts dCf 1 year

• software and licensing costs straight line 4 years

• Customer relationships dCf 10 years

• net fair value of claims reserve Claims runoff 19 years

amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date.

Customer contracts represent the insurance policies that were in-force as at the date of acquisition.  software represents the software 
that was operating at the date of acquisition.  Customer relationships represent the expected retention of current customers beyond the 
expiration of the existing insurance contract terms.  the fair value of the claims reserve represents the difference between the book value 
and the fair value of the outstanding claims provision at the acquisition date.  the fair value of the claims reserve is net of the deferred 
acquisition costs at the date of acquisition.

(m) Income tax

income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the balance 
sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date.  

deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to 
income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax 
liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

a deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable surplus will be available against which the asset can 
be utilised.  deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 
related tax benefit will be realised.
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(n) Trade and other payables

trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  subsequent to initial 
recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  trade and other payables are unsecured, non-interest 
bearing and are usually settled within 30 days.  

(o) Unearned revenue

(i) unearned member subscriptions

the 365 day method is used to calculate the amount of unearned member subscriptions.  this involves the spread of subscription income 
using a time based method so as to calculate the portion of the subscription applicable to the unexpired period of a membership term.

(ii) unearned insurance premium revenue

the proportion of premium received or receivable not earned in the profit or loss at the reporting date is recognised in the balance 
sheet as an unearned premium liability.  the unearned premium liability represents premium revenue which will be earned in subsequent 
reporting periods.  

(p) Outstanding claims liability

the liability for outstanding claims is measured as the central estimate of the present value of expected future payments relating to claims 
incurred at the reporting date, with an additional risk margin to allow for the inherent uncertainty in the central estimate.  the liability is 
measured based on the valuations performed by, or under the direction of, the appointed actuary.

the expected future payments include those in relation to claims reported but not yet paid, claims incurred but not reported (iBnr), 
claims incurred but not enough reported (iBner) and the direct and indirect costs of settling those claims.  the expected future payments 
are discounted to present value using a risk free rate based on Commonwealth bonds as at the balance date.

a risk margin is applied to the outstanding claims liability, net of reinsurance and other recoveries, to reflect the inherent uncertainty in the 
central estimate of the outstanding claims liability.  the details of the risk margins applied and the process of determining the risk margin is 
set out in note 20.

(q) Unexpired risk liability

at each reporting date the consolidated entity assesses whether the unearned premium liability is sufficient to cover all expected future 
cash flows relating to future claims against current insurance contracts.  this assessment is referred to as the liability adequacy test and 
is performed separately for each group of contracts subject to broadly similar risks and managed together as a single portfolio.  the 
consolidated entity has one group of contracts being personal lines which incorporates personal insurance and Ctp insurance.

if the present value of the expected future cash flows relating to future claims plus an additional risk margin to reflect the inherent 
uncertainty in the central estimate exceeds the unearned premium liability less any related deferred acquisition costs, then the unearned 
premium liability is deemed to be deficient.  

any deficiency is recognised immediately in profit or loss.  the deficiency is recognised first by writing down any deferred acquisition costs, 
with any excess being recorded in the balance sheet as an unexpired risk liability.
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(r) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term benefits

liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries and annual leave represent the amount which the consolidated entity has a present 
obligation to pay resulting from employees’ services provided up to the balance date which are expected to be settled within 12 months  
of the balance date.  the provisions have been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on wage and salary rates that the consolidated 
entity expects to pay as at reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers compensation insurance and payroll tax.

a liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus plan if the consolidated entity has a present  
legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be  
measured reliably.

(ii) Defined contribution superannuation funds

obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred.  

(iii) Defined benefit superannuation funds

the consolidated entity’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit superannuation funds is calculated by estimating the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods.  that benefit is discounted to determine its 
present value, and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted.

the discount rate is the yield at the balance sheet date on Commonwealth government bonds that have maturity dates approximating the 
expected terms of the consolidated entity’s obligation.  the calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

Where the calculation results in a benefit to the consolidated entity, the recognised asset is limited to the net total of any unrecognised actuarial 
losses and past service costs and the present value of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

the consolidated entity recognises all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans directly in profit or loss.  

(iv) Long-term employee benefits

the consolidated entity’s net obligation in respect of long-term service benefits, other than defined benefit superannuation funds, is 
the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods.  the obligation 
is calculated using expected future increases in wage and salary rates including related on-costs and expected settlement dates, and is 
discounted using the rates attaching to the Commonwealth government bonds at the balance sheet date which have maturity dates 
approximating the terms of the consolidated entity’s obligations.  

(s) Impairment – non-financial assets

the carrying amounts of the consolidated entity’s assets, other than inventory and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each balance 
sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  if any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated.  for goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date.  

the recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  in assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risk specific to the asset.  for an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable 
amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

an impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset (or its cash generating unit) exceeds its recoverable 
amount.  impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  impairment losses recognised in respect of cash generating units are allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to cash generating unit, and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other 
assets in the unit on a pro rata basis.
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(s) Impairment – non-financial assets (continued)

an impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.  in respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are 
assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exits.  an impairment loss is reversed only to 
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation  
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.  

(t) Revenue

(i) member subscriptions

member subscriptions comprise amounts received from members net of gst.  the earned portion of subscriptions received is recognised 
as revenue evenly over the membership period (365 days).

(ii) entrance fees

entrance fees are recognised as revenue upon receipt.

(iii) member services

member services comprise revenue from the provision of member-related services to members and is recognised as it accrues.

(iv) rental income

rental income from investment property is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

(v) sale of non-current assets

gains or losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying 
amount of the asset and are recognised net within other income in profit or loss.  

(vi) insurance premium revenue

premium revenue includes amounts charged to policyholders, including applicable levies and charges, but excluding stamp duty and gst 
collected on behalf of third parties.

premium revenue, including that on unclosed business, is recognised in profit or loss when it has been earned.  premium revenue is earned 
from the date of attachment of risk over the period of the related insurance contracts in accordance with the pattern of the incidence of 
risk expected under the contracts.  the pattern of the risks is assumed to be even over the policy period.  

premium on unclosed business is brought to account based on the pattern of processing renewals and new business.

(vii) reinsurance and other recoveries

reinsurance and other recoveries receivable on paid claims, reported claims not yet paid, claims incurred but not reported (iBnr) and 
claims incurred but not enough reported (iBner) are recognised as revenue.  reinsurance and other recoveries receivable are assessed in 
a manner similar to the assessment of outstanding claims.  recoveries receivable are measured as the present value of the expected future 
receipts, calculated on the same basis as the liability for outstanding claims.

(viii) investment income

investment income comprises interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale financial assets), dividend income, gains on the 
disposal of available-for-sale financial assets and changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  

interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.  dividend income is recognised in profit  
or loss on the date that the consolidated entity’s right to receive payment is established, which in the case of quoted securities is the  
ex-dividend date.  distributions from listed and unlisted trusts are recognised on the date the unit value is quoted ex-distribution.

(ix) other revenue

other revenue is recognised as it is earned.  other revenue primarily relates to the distribution and services fees the consolidated entity 
receives from an associated entity, raCq insurance limited.
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(u) Claims expense

Claims expense represents claim payments adjusted for the movement in the outstanding claims liability.  Claims expense is recognised in 
profit or loss as losses are incurred, which is usually the point in time when the event giving rise to the claim occurs. 

(v) Outwards reinsurance premium expense

premium ceded to reinsurers is recognised as outwards reinsurance premium expense from the attachment date over the period of 
indemnity of the reinsurance contract in accordance with the expected pattern of the incidence of risk.  the unearned portion of outwards 
reinsurance premium is treated as a deferred insurance asset.

(w) Operating leases

payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  

(x) Goods and services tax

revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (gst), except where the amount of gst 
incurred is not recoverable from the australian tax office (ato).  in these circumstances, the gst is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the item of expense.

receivables and payables are stated with the amount of gst included.  the net amount of gst recoverable from, or payable to, the ato  
is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis.  the gst component of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ato are classified as operating cash flows.

(y) Current asset deficiency

in the comparative period, the balance sheet shows the consolidated entity had a current asset deficiency.  the deficiency arose due to the 
split of the consolidated entity’s investments between current and non-current.  the majority of the consolidated entity’s investments are 
highly liquid and were therefore available to pay debts as and when they fell due.

(z) Significant estimates, judgements and assumptions

the preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.  actual results may differ from these estimates.  

these estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience, external advice and other factors that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances.  estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are:
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(z) Significant estimates, judgements and assumptions (continued)

(i) estimation of outstanding claims liability

provision is made at year end for the estimated cost of claims incurred but not settled at the balance sheet date, including the cost of 
claims incurred but not yet reported to the consolidated entity.

the consolidated entity takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding its claims exposures.  however, 
given the uncertainty in estimating claims provisions, it is likely that the final outcome will prove to be different from the original liability 
established.  

Claims reported to the consolidated entity at balance sheet date are estimated with due regard to the claim circumstance as reported by 
the insured, legal representative, assessor, loss adjuster and / or other third party and then combined, where appropriate, with historical 
evidence on the cost of settling similar claims.  Case estimates are reviewed regularly and are updated as and when new information arises.  

there is a significant degree of uncertainty in the estimation of claims incurred but not reported (iBnr) and claims incurred but not 
enough reported (iBner) compared with the estimation of the cost of settling claims already notified to the consolidated entity, where 
more information about the claim is generally available.  iBnr and iBner claims typically may not be adequately reported until many 
years after the events giving rise to the claims have occurred.  personal insurance claims are generally reported within a short time frame 
following the claim event and therefore estimates are more certain.  Compulsory third party claims display increased complexity and 
longer settlement periods which typically results in greater uncertainty in estimation.  

a number of actuarial techniques are employed to estimate the future ultimate claims cost.  these techniques are based upon statistical 
analyses of historical experience, which assume that the development pattern of current claims will be consistent with past experience 
and/or general industry experience as appropriate.  An allowance is made for changes or uncertainties which might cause the cost of 
unsettled claims to increase or reduce compared with the cost of previously settled claims.  the ultimate net outstanding claims provision 
also includes an additional margin to allow for the uncertainty within the estimation process.  

details of specific actuarial techniques and assumptions used in calculating the outstanding claims liability at balance sheet date are 
described at note 2(c).

(ii) estimation of reinsurance and other recoveries

estimates of reinsurance and other recoveries are also computed using the above methods.  these calculations are also based on past 
recovery experience or relevant industry benchmarks and include adjustments to these assumptions where appropriate.  in addition, the 
recoverability of these assets is assessed on a periodic basis to ensure that the balance is reflective of the amounts that will ultimately be 
received, taking into consideration factors such as counterparty and credit risk.  impairment is recognised where there is objective evidence 
that the consolidated entity may not receive amounts due to it and these amounts can be reliably measured.

(iii) Measurement of defined benefit obligations

 details of the assumptions involved in this estimate are set out in note 22.
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2 generaL insuranCe aCtiVities 

(a) insurance result 

Consolidated
2011 2010

$’000 $’000

premium revenue 598,563 214,032

outwards reinsurance premium expense (75,716) (20,732)

net premium revenue 522,847 193,300

Claims expense (600,348) (129,799)

reinsurance and other recoveries revenue 243,009 6,164

net claims incurred (357,339) (123,635)

acquisition costs (59,412) (20,733)

other underwriting expenses (63,167) (21,851)

underwriting expenses (122,579) (42,584)

underwriting result 42,929 27,081

(b) net incurred claims
Consolidated 2011

Current 
Year

Prior 
Years

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

gross claims expense and related expenses

gross claims incurred – undiscounted 673,851  (111,112) 562,739

discount movement (22,073) 60,430  38,357

651,778  (50,682) 601,096

reinsurance and other recoveries revenue

reinsurance and other recoveries revenue – undiscounted (246,137) 7,719 (238,418)

discount movement 5,273 (9,864) (4,591)

(240,864) (2,145) (243,009)

total net claims incurred 410,914 (52,827) 358,087
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(b) net incurred claims (continued)

Consolidated 2010
Current 

Year
Prior 
Years

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

gross claims expense and related expenses

gross claims incurred - undiscounted 139,421 – 139,421

discount movement (9,622) – (9,622)

 129,799 – 129,799

reinsurance and other recoveries revenue

reinsurance and other recoveries revenue – undiscounted (6,770) – (6,770)

discount movement 606 – 606

(6,164) – (6,164)

total net claims incurred 123,635 – 123,635

Current year amounts relate to risks borne in the current financial year.  prior year amounts relate to a reassessment of the risks borne in 
all previous financial years.

during the year the payment and incurred costs movements attaching to Ctp large claims experienced downwards revisions.  additionally, 
due to continued stabilisation the assumed cost per policy for recent accident years were also revised downwards.  these two revisions 
pertaining to Ctp are the key drivers of the overall release from prior years.  offsetting these downwards revisions was an increase in the 
discount movement for Ctp due to a significantly lower discount rate.

the appointed actuary has not changed the model from the previous analysis of the queensland Ctp industry experience.  this model 
looks at the actual emerging cost per policy experience by injury severity level and also splits the analysis between small and large 
claims.  for year 2003 and earlier the appointed actuary uses a methodology for valuing the outstanding claims liability based on raCq 
insurance limited’s own reported incurred development experience.

(c) actuarial assumptions and methods

the consolidated entity uses different valuation approaches for personal insurance (pi) and Compulsory third party insurance (Ctp),  
and thus the calculation of the ultimate claims liability is performed using different methods.  the consolidated entity utilises valuations 
performed by external and internal actuaries to value the outstanding claims and related recoveries.  the actuarial methods used are  
based on the underlying attributes of the claims portfolio.  the process for determining the value of outstanding claims liabilities in respect  
of these classes is described below:

Personal insurance

personal insurance claims are classified as short tail in nature, with the majority of claims settling within a twelve month period of being 
reported.  the main actuarial valuation model used is the incurred Chain ladder model.  this model determines the underlying ratios of the 
incurred claims cost in each successive time period and uses these ratios to project the current incurred cost to the estimated ultimate 
cost.  the model used is based on last year’s model.  for recoveries and home liability claims where there is greater uncertainty due to their 
longer term nature, a method that blends reported estimates with a fixed expected rate per claim based on expected reporting patterns 
was used.
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2 generaL insuranCe aCtiVities (ContinueD)

(c) actuarial assumptions and methods (continued)

CtP insurance

Ctp insurance claims are classified as long tail in nature, with the majority of claims settling within a period greater than twelve months of 
being reported.  two valuation methods are used to model gross outstanding claims.

for accident periods up to and including 2005, raCq insurance limited’s case estimates were adopted with a development margin added 
based on an analysis of case estimate trends.  for accident periods beyond 2005 large and small claims cost per policy were modelled 
separately.  reference is also made to industry data in setting these costs.  for large claims a model was used that blends the expected 
initial large claims cost per policy with the emerging case experience.  for the small claims the model examines and selects a cost per 
policy based on groupings on the abbreviated injury scale (ais).

Claims inflation is incorporated into the resulting projected payments to allow for general economic inflation, as well as any superimposed 
inflation.  Claims inflation is unchanged since the last report.  projected payments are then discounted to allow for the time value of money.   
discount rates have fallen over the course of the year and this has increased the size of the provisions required to cover future claims cost.

actuarial assumptions

the actuarial assumptions used in determining the outstanding claims liability are:

2011  
Personal Lines

Personal 
Insurance

CTP 
Insurance

discount rate 3.41% 3.38%

inflation rate – 4.00%

superimposed inflation rate – 3.50%

expense rate 3.71% 5.75%

2010  
Personal Lines

Personal 
Insurance

CTP 
Insurance

discount rate 5.10% 5.37%

inflation rate – 4.00%

superimposed inflation rate – 3.50%

expense rate 7.50% 6.00%

Process used to determine assumptions

the process used to determine these assumptions is provided below:

discount rate

the liability cash flows for each class of business have been discounted using a series of rates derived from a yield curve based on 
Commonwealth government bonds as at the balance date.

inflation rate

personal insurance – no explicit allowance for general economic inflation has been made.  allowances for future inflation are implicit in the 
claims cost development patterns.

Compulsory third party – for Ctp insurance the claims experience relates to compensation for personal injury and has a significant  
wage-related component.  the general economic inflation assumption is therefore based on market expectations of growth in average 
weekly earnings.
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2 generaL insuranCe aCtiVities (ContinueD)

(c) actuarial assumptions and methods (continued)

Process used to determine assumptions (continued)

superimposed inflation 

personal insurance – no explicit allowance for superimposed inflation has been made.  allowances for future inflation where it exists  
are implicit in the claims cost development patterns.

Ctp insurance – superimposed inflation refers to the tendency of claims costs, over time, to increase above the rate of base inflation  
due to economic, social and political forces.  legislation changes and court settlement experience also contribute to superimposed  
inflation.  an allowance for superimposed inflation is made within the underlying valuation model.

expense rate

future claims handling costs were selected with reference to industry benchmarks and the experience of claims handling costs as 
a percentage of past payments.  Claim handling expense rates are expressed gross of all recoveries for Ctp insurance in the table 
above.  Claim handling expense rates for pi are expressed gross of reinsurance and non-reinsurance recoveries but net of input tax credit 
recoveries.

sensitivity analysis – insurance contracts

the consolidated entity conducts sensitivity analyses to quantify the exposure to risk of changes in the key underlying variables.   
the valuations included in the reported results are calculated using certain assumptions about these variables as disclosed above.   
the movement in any key variable will impact the performance and equity of the consolidated entity.  the table and analysis describe  
how a change in each assumption will affect the insurance liabilities and shows an analysis of the sensitivity of the profit after tax to  
changes in these assumptions on a net of reinsurance basis.  the variables presented in the table have been selected based on their 
materiality within the respective classes of business.

Variable Impact of movement in variable

non-reinsurance 
recoveries

motor non-reinsurance recoveries are deducted from gross outstanding claims to calculate a net outstanding 
claims provision.  future recoveries are derived using a model based on actual experience.  an increase 
or decrease in the non-reinsurance recovery rate per claim for the most recent periods would have an 
opposing impact on the outstanding claims provision.

development factor

the outstanding claims provision for personal insurance is calculated using a Chain ladder model.  this 
model determines the underlying ratios of the incurred claims cost in each successive time period and uses 
these ratios or development factors to project the current incurred cost to the estimated ultimate cost.  an 
increase or decrease in the initial incurred Chain ladder development factor would have a corresponding 
increase or decrease in the outstanding claims provision.

discount rate 
the outstanding claims liability is calculated by reference to expected future payments.  these payments are 
discounted to adjust for the time value of money.  an increase or decrease in the assumed discount rate will 
have an opposing impact on the outstanding claims provision.

inflation and 
superimposed  
inflation rates

expected future payments for Ctp insurance are specifically inflated to take account of inflationary 
increases.  an increase or decrease in the assumed levels of either economic or superimposed inflation 
would have a corresponding impact on the outstanding claims provision, with particular reference to longer 
tail business.

Cost per policy
the valuation model uses a cost per policy to calculate the net outstanding claims provision for Ctp.   
an increase or decrease in the cost per policy would have a corresponding increase or decrease in  
the outstanding claims provision.

The table below summaries the sensitivity of the surplus/(deficiency) to changes in key variables net of reinsurance and taxation at the 
prima facie rate of 30%.

notes to the finanCial statements  
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2 generaL insuranCe aCtiVities (ContinueD)

(c) actuarial assumptions and methods (continued)

Sensitivity analysis – insurance contracts (continued)

RACQ and controlled entities 2011 Financial impact
Movement in 

variable %
Increase/(decrease) to 
net outstanding claims

Adjusted surplus/
(deficiency) after tax

Equity

$’000 $’000 $’000

Variable

personal insurance

non-reinsurance recoveries 
recovery rate

-$10 per claim 269 68,926 860,856

+$10 per claim (269) 69,464 861,232

development factor
+10% 2,510 66,685 859,287

-10% (2,510) 71,705 862,801

Compulsory third party

discount rate
-1% 10,496 58,699 853,697

+1% (10,120) 79,315 868,128

superimposed inflation
+1% 8,659 60,536 854,983

-1% (8,593) 77,788 867,059

Cost per policy severity one
+10% 12,833 56,362 852,061

-10% (12,920) 82,115 870,088

3 reVenue

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

member subscription revenue 118,801 116,370

member services revenue 28,573 26,397

insurance premium revenue 598,563 214,032

reinsurance and other recoveries revenue 243,009 6,164

investment income

dividend income 1,147 2,816

interest income 66,883 34,804

Net gain / (loss) on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets transferred from equity (292) 32,565

fair value adjustment on acquisition of controlled entity – 145,507

net change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

Unrealised gains / (losses) 23,304 227

Realised gains / (losses) (3,437) 614

 total investment income 87,605 216,533
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other revenue

distribution and services charge – raCq insurance limited – 28,501

rent received from other parties 2,314 2,281

rent received from an associated company – 793

other income 7,241 5,141

9,555 36,716

total revenue 1,086,106 616,212

4 surPLus beFore tax

(a)  Surplus before tax has been arrived at after charging / (crediting) the following items:

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

depreciation expense

Buildings 392 417

plant and equipment 7,661 6,495

depreciation – investment property 325 302

total depreciation expense 8,378 7,214

amortisation expense

software and licensing costs 4,376 1,958

Customer relationships 6,229 883

Customer contracts 2,369 1,375

outstanding claims fair value adjustment 9,534 8,858

total amortisation expense 22,508 13,074

operating lease rental expense 1,589 1,391

impairment losses
impairment loss on trade receivables 14 17
impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets 639 1,703
impairment loss on non-reinsurance recoveries receivable 341 709
total impairment losses 994 2,429

surplus / (deficiency) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (54) 41

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

notes to the finanCial statements  
for the year ended 31 december 2011

3 reVenue (ContinueD)

raCq annual report 2011      51



4 surPLus beFore tax (ContinueD)

b) Personnel expenses 

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Wages and salaries 91,796 82,058

Contribution to defined contribution superannuation funds 7,680 7,113

expense related to defined benefit superannuation funds 473 467

99,949 89,638

5 inCome tax exPense

recognised in the income statement

Current tax expense:

– Current year 20,039 24,381

– adjustments for prior years (2,678) (306)

17,361 24,075

Deferred tax expense:

– origination and reversal of temporary differences 955 (10,927)

– Benefit of tax loss recognised – –

total income tax expense in income statement 18,316 13,148

Deferred tax recognised directly in equity

– relating to other financial assets current – 12,893

– relating to other financial assets non-current (220) (22)

total income tax recognised directly in equity (220) 12,871

prima facie tax expense calculated at 30% (2010: 30%) 
on operating surplus before tax

26,253 74,932

movement in income tax expense due to:

– non-deductible expenses (701) (41,682)

– share of associate’s net profit – 14,709

– mutual income and related deductions (7,527) (9,285)

– tax offset in franked dividends (308) (24,563)

– Prior year under / (over) provision 599 (963)

income tax expense / (benefit) on operating surplus 18,316 13,148
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6 CasH anD CasH eQuiVaLents

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Cash at bank and on hand 37,478 38,086

7 traDe anD otHer reCeiVabLes

Current

trade receivables 2,390 2,010

instalment insurance premiums 119,546 109,108

other 11,008 7,483

132,944 118,601

the consolidated entity’s exposure to credit risk and impairment loss is disclosed in note 26.

8 reinsuranCe anD otHer reCoVeries reCeiVabLe

Reinsurance recoveries

expected undiscounted outstanding reinsurance recoveries

on paid claims 7,937 1,602

on outstanding claims 124,259 59,275

132,196 60,877

discount to present value (6,923) (8,965)

125,273 51,912

Other recoveries

expected undiscounted outstanding other recoveries

on paid claims 46,867 47,068

on outstanding claims 65,053 54,757

111,920 101,825

discount to present value (5,986)  (8,629)

provision for impairment (15,883) (15,542)

90,051 77,654

total reinsurance and other recoveries receivable 215,324 129,566

Current 111,018 53,062

non-current 104,306 76,504

215,324 129,566

refer to note 20 for a reconciliation of the movement in reinsurance and other receivables on incurred claims over the period.
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9 DeFerreD insuranCe assets

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Current

Deferred acquisition costs

deferred acquisition costs at beginning of the financial year 28,166 25,439

acquisition costs incurred during the financial year 61,764 57,213

amortisation charged to profit and loss (59,412) (54,486)

Deferred acquisition costs at end of the financial year 30,518 28,166

Deferred reinsurance premiums

deferred reinsurance premiums at beginning of financial year 10,426 9,339

reinsurance premiums expensed during the year (75,716) (51,096)

reinsurance premiums taken up during the year 97,270 52,183

Deferred reinsurance premiums at end of financial year 31,980 10,426

total deferred insurance assets 62,498 38,592

10 inVestments

Current

Available for sale

debt securities 134,906 101,570

interest bearing deposits 13,963 11,400

Designated at fair value through profit or loss

debt securities, deposit and bills 365,443 293,352

total current 514,312 406,322
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RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

non-current

surplus – defined benefit superannuation fund – 604

Available for sale

equity securities 17,861 18,876

debt securities 25,730 100,558

other unlisted investments 8,268 9,254

Designated at fair value through profit or loss

debt securities, deposit and bills 637,971 652,266

total non-current 689,830 781,558

the consolidated entity’s exposure to credit and interest rate risks related to investments is disclosed in note 26.

11 inVentories

inventories stated at lower of cost and net realisable value 713 831

12 otHer Current assets

Prepayments 3,615 1,150

10 inVestments (ContinueD)
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13 inVestments aCCounteD For using tHe eQuity metHoD – raCQ insuranCe LimiteD

the consolidated entity accounts for investments in associates using the equity method.

Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

share of net profit accounted for using the equity method included in the income statement – 27,120

Results of associate

share of associate’s revenue – 218,864

Share of associate’s operating surplus / (deficiency) before income tax – 37,666

Share of associate’s income (tax expense) / benefit – (10,546)

share of associate’s net surplus / (deficiency) – equity accounted – 27,120

Share of post acquisition retained profits and reserves attributable to associate
share of associate’s retained profits at the beginning of the financial year  
before provision for dividend 

– 59,377

Share of net surplus/(deficiency) of associate in current year – 27,120

dividends from associate – (80,500)

Contribution of additional capital during the year – 35,500

Contributions of prior year share capital – 27,500

general reserve of associate pre acquisition – 17,500

Cost of investment in associate pre acquisition – 3,441

acquisition of remaining share capital of associate by the parent – (89,938)

share of associate’s retained profits at the end of the financial year – –

share capital at the end of the financial year – –

share of associate’s general reserve at the end of the financial year – –

Cost of investment in associate – –

Equity accounted carrying amount of investment – –

Movements in carrying amount of investment

Carrying amount of investment in associate at the beginning of the financial year – 107,818

Share of associate’s net surplus/(deficiency) – 27,120

Contribution of additional share capital – 35,500

dividend received from associate – (80,500)

acquisition of remaining share capital of associate by the parent – (89,938)

Carrying amount of investment in associate at the end of the financial year – –
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13  inVestments aCCounteD For using tHe eQuity metHoD – raCQ insuranCe LimiteD 
(ContinueD)

Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

summary performance and financial position of associate – parent entity share

the consolidated entity’s share of aggregate assets, liabilities and profit of the associate are as follows:

net surplus / (deficiency) – as reported by associate – 27,120

Current assets – –

non-current assets – –

total assets – –

Current liabilities – –

non-current liabilities – –

total liabilities – –

net assets – as reported by associate – –

net assets – equity adjusted and carrying amount of investment in associate at year end – –

14 inVestment ProPerty
RACQ and 

controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Cost 16,167 16,167

acquisitions – –

accumulated depreciation  (2,400) (2,075)

balance at 31 December 13,767 14,092

Balance of accumulated depreciation at 1 January 2,075 1,773

depreciation expense 325 302

balance of accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2,400 2,075

the carrying amount of investment property is the deemed cost of the property (using the cost model approach).  depreciation of 2.5%  
of the building component of the property is being charged on a straight line basis.

the fair value of the investment property has been determined by an independent valuation carried out as at 31 december 2009 by 
mcgees aapi to be $22,490,000.  the basis of valuation was open market value for existing use.  Based on current circumstances there  
is no evidence to suggest that the carrying value of investment property is impaired.
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15 tax assets anD LiabiLities

recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

raCQ and Controlled entities
Assets Liabilities Net
$’000 $’000 $’000

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

property, plant and equipment – – (1,311) (1,284) (1,311) (1,284)

acquisition adjustment – – (16,096) (22,081) (16,096) (22,081)

investments 593 4,909 (7,694) (2,684) (7,101) 2,225

Claims handling costs on outstanding claims 9,793 9,934 – – 9,793 9,934

employee benefits 5,776 4,693 – (40) 5,776 4,653

provisions 400 – – – 400 –

other items 1,217 1,735 (159) (70) 1,058 1,665

tax losses recognised 3,593 1,735 – – 3,593 1,735

tax assets / (liabilities) 21,372 23,006 (25,260) (26,159) (3,888) (3,153)

set off of tax – – 21,372 23,006 – –

net tax assets / (liabilities) 21,372 23,006 (3,888) (3,153) (3,888) (3,153)

16 ProPerty, PLant anD eQuiPment
RACQ and 

controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Freehold land

at cost 20,963 20,963

20,963 20,963

Buildings

at cost 16,664 16,664

accumulated depreciation (3,701) (3,309)

12,963 13,355

Plant and equipment

at cost 86,073 74,238

accumulated depreciation (40,463) (34,076)

45,610 40,162

Capital works in progress

at cost 50,532 7,229

total property, plant and equipment net book value 130,068 81,709
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notes to the finanCial statements  
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RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Freehold land

Carrying amount at beginning of year 20,963 16,441

additions – 4,522

disposals  – –

transfer from capital works in progress – –

Carrying amount at end of year 20,963 20,963

Buildings

Carrying amount at beginning of year 13,355 14,301

disposals – –

transfer to plant and equipment – (529)

transfer from capital works in progress – –

depreciation (392) (417)

Carrying amount at end of year 12,963 13,355

Plant and equipment

Carrying amount at beginning of year 40,162 25,093

additions  5,167 13,342

transfer from capital works in progress 8,860 8,640

disposals  (918) (947)

depreciation (7,661) (6,495)

transfer from Buildings – 529

Carrying amount at end of year 45,610 40,162

Capital works in progress

Carrying amount at beginning of year 7,229 6,100

additions 61,450 9,770

transfers to software, property, plant and equipment and buildings (18,147) (8,641)

Carrying amount at end of year 50,532 7,229

Valuations

an independent valuation of freehold land and buildings was carried out as at 31 december 2009 by mcgees aapi.  the basis of valuation 
was open market values for existing use and resulted in a valuation of $62,390,000.  as the Company adopts the cost basis for land and 
buildings, the independent valuation is not recognised in these financial statements.  Based on current circumstances there is no evidence to 
suggest that the carrying value of land and buildings is impaired.

16 ProPerty, PLant anD eQuiPment (ContinueD)

reconciliations

reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below:
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17 intangibLe assets

RACQ and controlled entities

Goodwill

Software 
and licensing 

costs
Customer 

relationships

Outstanding 
claims 

fair value 
adjustment

Customer 
Contracts Total

2011 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Carrying amounts

Balance at beginning 
of financial year 238,927 7,169 27,097 40,104 2,369 315,666
amortisation – (4,376) (6,229) (9,534) (2,369) (22,508)
acquisitions through 
business combination – – – – – –
transfer from capital 
works in progress – 9,287 – – – 9,287
other acquisitions – 979 – – – 979
balance at end of 
financial year 238,927 13,059 20,868 30,570 – 303,424

RACQ and controlled entities

Goodwill

Software 
and licensing 

costs
Customer 

relationships

Outstanding 
claims 

fair value 
adjustment

Customer 
Contracts Total

2010 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Carrying amounts

Balance at beginning 
of financial year 719 1,839 – – – 2,558
amortisation – (1,958) (883) (8,858) (1,375) (13,074)
acquisitions through 
business combination 238,208 4,688 27,980 48,962 3,744 323,582
transfer from capital 
works in progress – – – – – –
other acquisitions – 2,600 – – – 2,600
balance at end of 
financial year 238,927 7,169 27,097 40,104 2,369 315,666

impairment testing for cash-generating unit (raCQ insurance Limited)

for the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to significant cash generating units (Cgu).  the aggregate carrying amounts of 
goodwill allocated to each Cgu are as follows:

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

raCq insurance limited 238,208 238,208

other Cgu without significant goodwill 719 719

238,927 238,927
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17 intangibLe assets (ContinueD)

the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each Cgu is then compared to its recoverable amount and if the recoverable amount is 
lower, the asset value is written down.  the recoverable amount of the raCq insurance limited Cgu was based on its value in use and 
was determined by discounting the future cashflows to be generated from the continuing use of the Cgu.  no impairment loss has been 
recognised for 2011 (no impairment loss was recognised for 2010).  the assessment for 2010 was based on the independent valuation that 
was conducted for the purpose of raCq’s acquisition.

Key assumptions used in discounted cashflow projections

Key assumptions used in the calculation of recoverable amounts are discount rates, terminal value growth rates and EBITDA growth.   
these assumptions are as follows:

 
Discount Rate

Terminal Value  
Growth Rate

Budgeted Average 
EBITDA Growth Rate

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % % % %

raCq insurance limited 11.0 – 2.5 – 11.4 –

the raCq insurance limited discount rate is a post-tax measure estimated based on past experience, and industry average weighted 
average cost of capital.

a long-term growth rate into perpetuity has been determined which does not exceed the long term average growth rate for the industry.

raCq insurance limited has 5 years of cash flows included in its discounted cash flow model from 1 January 2012.  Budgeted eBitda is 
expressed as the compound annual growth rates in the initial 5 years of the plan used for impairment testing and has been based on past 
experience and have been adjusted for anticipated significant non-recurring activities.

18 traDe anD otHer PayabLes

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

trade payables 47,617 29,004

other payables and accruals 18,570 12,880

66,187 41,884

19 unearneD reVenue

Unearned insurance premium liability

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 289,398 271,651

insurance premiums written during the year 610,413 591,506

insurance premiums earned during the year (599,075) (573,759)

balance at the end of the financial year 300,736 289,398

Unearned member subscriptions 63,581 60,901

total unearned revenue 364,317 350,299
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20 outstanDing CLaims LiabiLity

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Central estimate 690,937 610,990

Claims handling costs 35,596 37,789

gross claims incurred - undiscounted 726,533 648,779

discount to present value (53,328) (77,041)

risk margin 126,325 117,485

gross outstanding claims liability 799,530 689,223

Current 297,496 294,060

non-current 502,034 395,163

gross outstanding claims liability 799,530 689,223

Process for determining risk margin

 the risk margin was last reviewed in 2010 and remains unchanged and was determined by allowing for diversification between the 
different portfolios and the relative uncertainty of the outstanding claims estimate for each portfolio.  uncertainty was analysed for 
each portfolio taking into account potential uncertainties relating to the robustness of the various valuation models and the underlying 
assumptions, reliability and volume of data available, past claims experience, characteristics of the classes of business written and industry 
and market conditions.  in respect of catastrophe claims breaching the reinsurance retention for the personal insurance class of business, no 
risk margin has been applied against the net outstanding claims provision.  this methodology has been applied as the ultimate cost to the 
Company will not be greater than the reinsurance retention.

 the assumptions regarding uncertainty for each class of business were applied to the net central estimates, and the results were 
aggregated, allowing for diversification in order to arrive at an overall provision.  the overall provision is intended to have a probability of 
sufficiency of around 90%.  the current year’s intended probability of sufficiency is 92.5% (2010: 92.5%).
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20 outstanDing CLaims LiabiLity (ContinueD)

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

% %

Risk margins applied

personal insurance 20.4 18.2

Compulsory third party 28.0 28.0

overall margin allowing for diversification 27.1 26.5

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

reconciliation of movement in discounted net outstanding claims liability

opening net outstanding claims liability 559,657 517,227

prior periods

Claim payments (132,834) (140,804)

discount unwind 20,179 19,991

margin release on prior periods (26,503) (29,850)

incurred claims due to changes in assumptions and experience (83,972) (58,485)

Change in discount rate 13,203 (1,765)

Change in reinsurance on paid claims (3,799) 16,326

Current period

incurred claims 191,546 203,082

Claim payments (2,533) (16,015)

risk margin on current period net outstanding claims 49,262 49,950

Closing net outstanding claims liability 584,206 559,657

reinsurance and other recoveries receivable 215,324 129,566

gross outstanding claims liability 799,530 689,223
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20 outstanDing CLaims LiabiLity (ContinueD)

Claims development table

the following table shows the development of undiscounted outstanding claims relative to the ultimate expected claims for the ten most 
recent accident years.  amounts are net of reinsurance and third party recoveries.

Accident 
year

2002 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2005 
$’000

2006 
$’000

2007 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2010 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Total  
$’000

Estimate of ultimate CTP claims cost:
at end of 
accident year

68,034 83,995 89,297 87,431 84,625 96,835 117,735 145,608 142,819 149,350

one year later 64,598 73,847 79,742 72,598 81,279 102,930 115,858 134,086 122,314 -

two years later 62,717 66,288 72,010 76,326 91,318 103,165 110,733 120,140 - -

three years later 65,819 62,226 72,725 67,200 80,038 90,179 100,875 - - -

four years later 59,375 52,762 66,138 64,611 75,020 86,897 - - - -

five years later 60,540 52,122 63,141 60,453 72,761 - - - - -

six years later 58,913 50,081 60,532 59,597 - - - - - -

seven years later 58,325 51,447 58,098 - - - - - - -

eight years later 57,917 49,491 - - - - - - - -

nine years later 57,037 - - - - - - - - -

Current estimate 
of cumulative 
claims cost

57,037 49,491 58,098 59,597 72,761 86,897 100,875 120,140 122,314 149,350 876,560

Cumulative 
payments

(55,646) (47,226) (53,964) (54,164) (58,780) (73,680) (61,072) (39,564) (10,684) (1,007) (455,787)

net outstanding 
claims – 
undiscounted

1,391 2,265 4,134 5,433 13,981 13,217 39,803 80,576 111,630 148,343 420,773

discount (37,069)

Claims handling 
expenses

26,917

2000 and prior 440

outstanding 
claims – CtP

411,061

outstanding 
claims – personal 
insurance 

46,820

risk margin 126,325

total net 
outstanding 
claims

584,206

as other personal insurance (comprising motor, house and boat) is all short tail, the majority of claims are settled within a twelve month 
period and therefore there is no material claim developments beyond a one year timeframe that require disclosure.
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21 LiabiLity aDeQuaCy test

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

unearned premium liability 300,736 289,398

related deferred acquisition costs (30,518) (28,166)

related reinsurance asset (23,985) (10,426)

246,233 250,806

Central estimate of present value of expected future cash flows arising from future claims 244,089 223,361

risk margin 19,798 17,714

present value of expected future cash inflows arising from reinsurance recoveries on future claims (23,723) (12,163)

240,164 228,912

Net surplus / (deficiency) 6,069 21,894

the risk margin adopted in 2011 is 9.0% (2010 was 8.4%).  the risk margin applied in the calculation of present value of expected future 
cash flows arising from future claims is intended to achieve a 75% probability of sufficiency.  this differs from the 92.5% probability of 
sufficiency used in the calculation of the outstanding claims liability.  the 75% level of sufficiency is considered appropriate given the purpose 
and nature of the test, which is to highlight deficiencies in product pricing.  the liability adequacy test has been performed on a single 
personal lines basis given the broadly similar risks between personal insurance and Ctp classes of business.

22 emPLoyee beneFits

Current

liability for annual leave 9,781 8,349

liability for long service leave 6,637 5,975

16,418 14,324

non-current

liability for long service leave 3,083 2,803

(Surplus) / deficit – defined benefit superannuation fund 347 -

3,430 2,803

number of employees

number of employees at year end 1,692 1,610
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22 emPLoyee beneFits (ContinueD)

superannuation plan

the consolidated entity and certain related entities contribute to a defined benefit employee superannuation plan that provides 
superannuation for employees upon retirement.  in the 2000 year the plan introduced an accumulation division.

in the case of the accumulation division the consolidated entity and certain related entities have a legally enforceable obligation to 
contribute to the division in respect of employees who have chosen that division.

in the case of the defined Benefit division, employer contributions are based on the advice of the plan’s actuary.  Contributions in excess 
of those specified in superannuation industry (supervision) legislation are not legally enforceable except in the event of a shortfall in the 
plan’s assets to meet payments due to employees.  employees’ contributions are based on various percentages of their gross salaries.

the defined Benefit division provides defined benefits based on years of service and final average salary.  in accordance with the trust 
deed, the consolidated entity and certain related entities are under a legal obligation to make up any shortfall in the defined Benefit 
division’s assets to meet payments due to employees.

an actuarial assessment of the defined Benefit division as at 1 July 2011 was carried out by mr J smith, fiaa in october 2011.  the 
actuary concluded that the assets of the defined Benefit division were sufficient to meet all benefits payable in the event of the defined 
Benefit division’s termination, or the voluntary or compulsory termination of employment of each employee of the consolidated entity 
and certain related entities. the methodology adopted in this assessment is performed using different assumptions to the assessment for 
financial reporting purposes, therefore different outcomes may occur.

the accrued benefits, plan assets at net market value and vested benefits of the plan are set out below.  accrued benefits are benefits 
which the plan is presently obliged to pay at some future date, as a result of membership of the plan.  vested benefits are benefits which 
are not conditional upon the continued membership of the plan or any factor, other than resignation from the plan.
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22 emPLoyee beneFits (ContinueD)

details of contributions to the above plan during the year and contributions payable at 31 december 2011 are as follows:

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

employer contributions to the plan Defined benefit Division 606 653

Defined benefit plan sponsored by the Company (either individually or jointly with other entities in the consolidated entity and other 
related parties)

Plan assets at 
net market 

value

Total accrued 
benefits

Excess /  
(deficit)

Total vested 
benefits

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
raCq superannuation fund 2011 16,587 16,934 (347)  12,300
raCq superannuation fund 2010 18,535 17,930 605 14,180

2011 2010

actuarial assumptions

• discount rate 3.7% pa 4.7% pa

• rate of investment returns 6.2% pa 6.2% pa

• rate of salary increase 5.0% pa 4.0% pa

• over the long term credited interest rates will approximate the investment returns of the 

assets backing the defined benefit liabilities

• rates of death and disablement and early retirement and resignation based on documented past experience

• Contributions tax of 15% on employer contributions including members packaged contributions

the major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:

• australia equities 22.0% 23.0%

• international equities 19.0% 16.0%

• Australian fixed interest securities / cash 46.0% 46.0%

• alternative assets 4.0% 5.0%

• property 9.0% 12.0%
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23 reserVes

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

investment revaluation reserve 5,049 5,190

total reserves 5,049 5,190

reconciliation of movements during the year

(a) investment revaluation reserve

Balance at the beginning of year 5,190 35,275

Increase / (decrease) in market value of available-for-sale financial assets during year (net of tax) (141) (30,085)

balance at end of year 5,049 5,190

(b) general reserve

Balance at the beginning of year – 42,197

transfer to retained surplus – (42,197)

balance at end of year – –

total reserves 5,049 5,190

investment revaluation reserve

as a result of the nomination of ‘other investments’ being as available-for-sale assets under aasB139, movements in fair value of these 
assets other than impairments are adjusted through this reserve.

general reserve

the amount standing to the credit of the general reserve resulted from prior period allocations of retained surplus for non-specific 
purposes.  during 2010 the balance was transferred to retained surplus.

24 retaineD surPLus

retained surplus at beginning of year 786,697 507,872

net surplus attributable to members of the parent entity 69,195 236,628

transfer of general reserve – 42,197

raCq foundation fund prior year retained earnings 103 –

retained surplus at the end of the year 855,995 786,697
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25 Leases anD Commitments

operating lease expense commitments

RACQ and 
controlled entities
2011 2010

$’000 $’000

non-cancellable operating lease commitments not provided for in the financial statements and payable:

Within one year 3,184 2,807

one year or later and no later than five years 5,688 4,450

later than five years 2,704 –

11,576 7,257

the consolidated entity leases property under operating leases expiring within one to ten years.  leases generally provide the consolidated 
entity with a right to renewal at which time all terms are renegotiated.  

Capital expenditure commitments

Contracted but not provided for and payable:

Within one year 42,042 13,878

operating lease revenue as lessor

future revenues not provided for in the financial statements and receivable:

Within one year 2,364 2,311

one year or later and no later than five years 7,048 9,443

9,412 11,754

the consolidated entity leases out investment property under operating leases.  during the year rental income of $2,171,000 was 
recognised in profit or loss (2010: $3,074,000).

direct operating expenses including repairs and maintenance associated with holding these investment properties were $314,000  
(2010: $819,000).

26 FinanCiaL risk management

overview

the consolidated entity has exposure to insurance risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk from its operating activities and use of 
financial instruments.

this note presents information about the consolidated entity’s exposure to each of the above risks, its objectives, policies and processes  
for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.  

the Board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework.  the risk 
management approach of the consolidated entity is defined by the discrete consideration of activities which are subject to external 
regulatory oversight as distinct from the risks which exist in other controlled entities.  external regulatory oversight applies to wholly 
owned subsidiaries, Club insurance holdings pty limited (Cih) and raCq insurance limited (raCq insurance).  Cih has been established 
for the sole purpose of holding the consolidated entities interest in raCq insurance and monitoring its operational performance.  Cih and 
raCq insurance form a level 2 insurance group for the purpose of prudential regulation.  as such the information for these entities is 
consolidated for regulatory and management purposes.  
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26 FinanCiaL risk management (ContinueD)

overview (continued)

Based on the framework established, risk management within the consolidated entity is therefore the responsibility of the Boards of the 
royal automobile Club of queensland limited, Cih and raCq insurance.  each Board has established Committees, which assist the 
respective Boards in developing and monitoring risk management policies.  these Committees report regularly to their Boards of directors 
on their activities.

risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the consolidated entity, to set appropriate risk limits  
and controls, and to monitor risk and adherence to limits.  risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes 
in market conditions and the consolidated entity’s activities.  the consolidated entity, through its management standards and procedures,  
has developed a control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

the Committees responsible for risk management oversee how management monitors compliance with relevant risk management policies 
and procedures, and review the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the respective activities.  the 
Committees are assisted in their oversight roles by the raCq group internal auditors.  the internal auditors undertakes both regular and 
ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the relevant Committees.

insurance risk

(i) risk management objectives and policies for mitigating insurance risk

all insurance activities conducted by the consolidated entity are carried on by raCq insurance and Cih (the level 2 insurance group), 
which is subject to prudential standards issued by apra.  

in accordance with prudential standard GPS 220 Risk Management and GPS 221 Risk Management: Level 2 Insurance Groups issued 
by apra, the Boards of directors of Cih and raCq insurance, in conjunction with the responsible management, have developed, 
implemented and maintained a risk management strategy (rms) for both raCq insurance and the level 2 insurance group.

the rms’s aim to ensure that both raCq insurance and the level 2 insurance group have in place prudent risk management systems to 
effectively identify, evaluate, mitigate and monitor all key risks that the consolidated entity faces through its insurance operations.

the Cih and raCq insurance Boards of directors are responsible for reviewing their respective rms annually to ensure that they 
provide adequate frameworks to monitor operating circumstances that may impact on the risk profile.  the Boards of directors of Cih 
and raCq insurance certify each year to apra that the respective entities have systems in place to ensure compliance with legislative and 
prudential requirements and that the Boards of directors have satisfied themselves as to the adequacy of, and compliance with, the each 
organisation’s risk management arrangements.  

the key components of the rms that aim to mitigate insurance risk include:

• underwriting operations are managed in accordance with underwriting rules and guidelines, with regular quality assessment and 

monitoring of operations.  each individual policyholder pays a premium that is based on their relative risk in comparison to other 

policyholders;

• Claims operations are managed in accordance with claims handling rules and guidelines, with regular quality assessment and monitoring 

of operations.  these include, among other factors, delegations of authority for acceptance and approval of claims, review processes for 

claim payments and processes for accurate initial and ongoing claims provisioning; and

• a liability valuation strategy ensures that the consolidated entity’s insurance liabilities are measured in accordance with the provisions 

of apra prudential standard GPS 310 Audit and Actuarial Reporting and Valuation.

• in addition to the rms, raCq insurance has developed, implemented and maintained a reinsurance management strategy (rems).   

the rems has been developed in accordance with GPS 230 Reinsurance Management issued by apra.

raCq insurance has in place comprehensive reinsurance arrangements to increase the capacity to underwrite new insurance business 
and, at the same time, reduce the volatility of operating performance.

the rems documents the reinsurance processes and arrangements that raCq insurance has in place to provide the necessary security 
and liquidity to meet its obligations to policyholders and hence provide protection to the assets of raCq insurance and ultimately the 
consolidated entity.
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26 FinanCiaL risk management (ContinueD)

insurance risk (continued)

(i) risk management objectives and policies for mitigating insurance risk (continued)

the key components of the rems that aim to mitigate insurance risk include:

• the purchase of adequate reinsurance, up to the maximum policy limitations, for each distinct product line.  in respect of catastrophic 

events, actuarial modelling is used to calculate the probable maximum loss (pml) with a return period of 1 in 250 years.  this is 

modelled on a ‘Whole of portfolio, all perils’ basis;

• in respect of the retention levels of the respective reinsurance placements, consideration is given, among other factors, to current 

reinsurance pricing and past claims experience;

• consideration is given to the credit ratings of reinsurers, with an annual review of minimum allowable ratings and regular monitoring of 

current participants to ensure compliance with minimum standards; and 

• the reinsurance program is spread across major reinsurance markets to avoid over dependency on any one market and to generate 

innovation and competition for business.

(ii) terms and conditions of insurance contracts

raCq insurance has developed and maintains a standard insurance contract for all insurance policies.  the terms and conditions of these 
insurance contracts are based upon legislative requirements as stipulated within the insurance Contracts act.  no special terms are entered 
into with any policyholder that has a material impact upon the financial statements.

(iii) Concentration of insurance risk

raCq insurance aims to reduce its exposure to concentration of insurance risk by maintaining a balanced diversified portfolio across both 
short tail (personal insurance) and long tail (Compulsory third party) classes of business.  

the largest risk faced by raCq insurance in respect of concentration is the risk of natural catastrophes.  as documented within the rems, 
all risks are aggregated via postcode and then modelled with commercial catastrophe modelling tools to evaluate the single largest risk, or 
maximum probable loss.

the largest insurance risk faced by raCq insurance is tropical cyclone wind induced damage in the south-east corner of queensland.   
the maximum probable loss, as calculated by the catastrophe models for this event is used as the minimum level of catastrophe  
reinsurance required.

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the consolidated entity if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the consolidated entity’s investment securities and receivables from reinsurers and other 
insurance related recoveries from third parties.  

the consolidated entity manages credit risk through the use of a Credit management strategy.  this strategy aims to reduce the exposure 
to credit default by ensuring the consolidated entity invests in secure assets, contracts with financially sound reinsurers and monitors all 
funds owed on a timely basis.  exposure to credit risk is monitored on a regular basis.  

(i) investment securities

the consolidated entity has investment policies in place which detail the investment strategies, the investments the consolidated entity 
is allowed to invest in, as well as the investment portfolio structures that detail the share of each investment class in the investment 
portfolio.  according to the policy the consolidated entity invests in:

• equity securities

• fixed interest securities; and

• investment properties.

the consolidated entity limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in fixed interest securities that comply with Board-approved 
credit rating exposure limits that are reviewed on a regular basis.  given these exposure limits management does not expect any 
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.  
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26 FinanCiaL risk management (ContinueD)

Credit risk (continued)

(ii) receivables

the credit risk associated with the reinsurance arrangements is managed within raCq insurance and is regularly monitored by a 
senior executive Committee of raCq insurance and by specialised reinsurance brokers operating within the international reinsurance 
market.  the credit risk to reinsurers is managed through raCq insurance having a pre-determined policy on the appropriate credit rating 
a reinsurer must have to participate in the reinsurance program.  raCq insurance does not expect any counterparties to fail to meet 
their obligations given their credit ratings.  reinsurance is placed with companies with standard and poor’s credit ratings of ‘a minus’ or 
better.  over concentration of credit risk is avoided by placement of cover with a number of reinsurers.  

the credit risk from other insurance related recoveries with third parties arises from the issuing of recovery action against individual 
counterparties.  following the identification of a recovery the debt is monitored and pursued to ensure receipt or to assess recoverability 
where difficulties arise.  a provision for impairment, based on historical patterns of default, is maintained on a collective basis for these 
recoveries.

(iii) guarantees

refer to note 30 regarding deed of cross guarantee.

(iv) exposure to credit risk

the consolidated entity is not materially exposed to any individual or company that, in the event of a credit default, would materially 
impact profit or loss.  the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset, net of any 
provision for impairment.  the table below provides information regarding the credit risk exposure of the consolidated entity’s financial 
assets by standard & poor’s credit rating:

AAA 
$’000

AA+ - AA- 
$’000

A+ - A- 
$’000

Below A-  
$’000

Not rated 
$’000

Total 
$’000

2011

Cash and cash 
equivalents – 8,620 28,795 – 63 37,478

debt securities 589,452 395,300 96,007 14,595 3,226 1,098,580

receivables – – – – 132,944 132,944
reinsurance 
recoveries 1,065 56,210 67,998 – – 125,273

other recoveries 55,399 – – – 34,652 90,051
prepaid reinsurance 
premiums 273 14,351 17,356 – – 31,980
short term money 
market – 77,237 41 2,529 707 80,514

646,189 551,718 210,197 17,122 171,592 1,596,820
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26 FinanCiaL risk management (ContinueD)

Credit risk (continued)

(iv) exposure to credit risk (continued)

AAA 
$’000

AA+ - AA- 
$’000

A+ - A- 
$’000

Below A-  
$’000

Not rated 
$’000

Total 
$’000

2010

Cash and cash 
equivalents – 7,954 22,647 – 5 30,606 

debt securities 606,259 375,514 88,782 4,530 1,000 1,076,085

receivables – – – – 114,774 114,774
reinsurance 
recoveries – 13,404 38,503 – 5 51,912

other recoveries 46,932 – – – 30,722 77,654
prepaid reinsurance 
premiums 255 1,120 8,503 – 548 10,426
short term money 
market – 85,223 – – – 85,233

653,446 483,225 158,435 4,530 147,054 1,446,690

(v) impairment losses

the following table shows an analysis of the age of receivables that are past due as at the reporting date and any provision for impairment.  

Gross
Provision for 
Impairment

$’000 $’000
2011

not past due 196,984 –

less than 6 months overdue 10,586 (2,557)

more than 6 but less than 12 months overdue 16,835 (1,809)

more than 12 months but less than 24 months overdue 7,709 (2,824)

more than 24 months overdue 12,509 (8,748)

244,623 (15,938)

Gross
Provision for 
Impairment

$’000 $’000
2010

not past due 215,983 –

less than 6 months overdue 14,190 (2,706)

more than 6 but less than 12 months overdue 6,929 (2,418)

more than 12 months but less than 24 months overdue 10,081 (3,379)

more than 24 months overdue 16,567 (7,080)

263,750 (15,583)
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26 FinanCiaL risk management (ContinueD)

Credit risk (continued)

(v) impairment losses (continued)

the movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of receivables during the year was as follows:

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Balance at 1 January 15,583 41

impairment for the year 355 15,542

balance at 31 December 15,938 15,583

Liquidity risk

liquidity risk is the risk that the consolidated entity will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  the consolidated  
entity’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity on a daily basis to meet its  
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the 
consolidated entity’s reputation.

the consolidated entity aims to reduce the exposure to liquidity risk by ensuring the availability of sufficient funds to meet policyholder, 
employee and supplier obligations at all times.  this is achieved by ensuring that investments held to match policyholder and other liabilities 
are matched to the expected duration of those liabilities.  to ensure the consolidated entity has sufficient funds to meet daily obligations 
minimum levels of cash are held within the trading bank accounts.  these accounts are reviewed daily, in conjunction with obligations to 
ensure sufficient funds are maintained.  

the following table represents the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

Less than  
1 year 
$’000

1 – 3 years 
$’000

 3 – 5 years 
$’000

More than  
5 years 

$’000
Total 
$’000

2011

outstanding claims 297,496 363,922 107,114 30,998 799,530

payables 44,803 – – – 44,803
unearned premium  
and subscription

364,317 – – – 364,317

706,616 363,922 107,114 30,998 1,208,650

Less than  
1 year 
$’000

1 – 3 years 
$’000

 3 – 5 years 
$’000

More than  
5 years 

$’000
Total 
$’000

2010

outstanding claims 294,060 315,758 60,646 18,759 689,223

payables 20,530 – – – 20,530
unearned premium  
and subscription

289,398 – – – 289,398

603,988 315,758 60,646 18,759 999,151
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26 FinanCiaL risk management (ContinueD)

market risk

market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and equity prices will affect the consolidated entity’s income or 
the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  the objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures 
within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

the consolidated entity manages market risk through the use of various investment management strategies.

raCq insurance’s investment portfolio is managed by an external third party investment manager, in accordance with the investment 
guidelines approved by the raCq insurance Board of directors.  however, $60m of the cash investment for its shareholders’ funds 
portfolio is managed by the royal automobile Club of queensland limited.  the investment guidelines are stipulated within an investment 
mandate, which provides the investment rules for asset selection, credit worthiness, maximum exposures to single counterparties and 
performance benchmarks.

the consolidated entity, through its investment Committees, reviews and approves the investment strategies and investment mandates at 
least annually.  the performance of all investment managers (both external and internal), including compliance with investment guidelines 
stipulated within the investment strategies and mandates, is reviewed on a regular basis by both management and the Boards of directors.

(i) interest rate risk

interest rate risk arises from the revaluation of interest bearing securities held by the consolidated entity.  the underlying objective of the 
insurance investment portfolios is to immunise the insurance operating result from volatility arising from interest rate movements, noting 
that the insurance liabilities are discounted using the risk-free rate.  

investment portfolios are subject to mismatch risk if the investments backing the liabilities have a different risk profile, both duration and 
credit, as compared to the liabilities.  to mitigate this risk, the investments are held at an average duration that broadly matches the average 
duration of a corresponding liability provision.  Within the insurance business, the use of an average duration can expose investment 
portfolios to dispersion risk, where the underlying components of the assets and liabilities are not matched.  to reduce dispersion risk the 
investment manager provides comparison of assets and liabilities across annual time series.  this is monitored on a monthly basis to ensure 
that there is a minimal exposure due to duration and/or dispersion risk.

the consolidated entity’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate for classes of financial assets and 
financial liabilities is set out below:

2011

Weighted 

Average 

Interest 

Rate

Floating 
Interest 

Rate  
$’000

Less 
than 1 

year 
$’000

1 – 2 
years 
$’000

2 – 3 
years 
$’000

3 – 4 
years 
$’000

4 – 5 
years 
$’000

More 
than 5 
years 
$’000

Total 
$’000

financial assets
Cash 2.89% 37,478 - - - - - - 37,478
investments 5.66% 119,999 468,141 169,059 195,977 109,326 39,821 76,771 1,179,094

157,477 468,141 169,059 195,977 109,326 39,821 76,771 1,216,572

2010

Weighted 

Average 

Interest 

Rate

Floating 
Interest 

Rate  
$’000

Less 
than 1 

year 
$’000

1 – 2 
years 
$’000

2 – 3 
years 
$’000

3 – 4 
years 
$’000

4 – 5 
years 
$’000

More 
than 5 
years 
$’000

Total 
$’000

financial assets
Cash 2.42% 38,086 - - - - - - 38,086
investments 5.78% 24,638 381,684 215,017 161,253 159,739 105,675 111,139 1,159,145

62,724 381,684 215,017 161,253 159,739 105,675 111,139 1,197,231

all other classes of financial assets and liabilities which have been recognised on the balance sheet are non-interest bearing.  
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26 FinanCiaL risk management (ContinueD)

market risk (continued)

(ii) sensitivity analysis

the sensitivity of profit and loss after tax and equity reserves to movements in interest rates in relation to interest-bearing financial assets 
held at the balance date is shown in the table below.  this analysis assumes that a change in interest rates results in a parallel shift in the 
yield curve and that all other variables remain constant.  the analysis is performed on the same basis for 2010.

the following sensitivity analysis shows the impact on the cash and fixed interest portfolios of a 1% decrease in interest rates with the  
Ctp technical reserves portfolio representing the most material impact.  the corresponding impact on the Ctp outstanding claims 
provisions of a 1% decrease in interest rates is a strengthening of $10.5m as detailed in note 2 – sensitivity analysis insurance 
contracts.  this analysis shows that an equal move in interest rates results in a minor benefit to the Ctp insurance result.  if these rates did 
not move equally the resulting impact on the outstanding claims provision and/or investment portfolio would differ, leading to an adverse/
favourable impact on surplus.  

Movement in 
variable

Impact to 
investment 

income before 
tax 

$’000

Surplus / 
(deficiency) 

after tax 
$’000

Impact on 
equity after 

tax 
$’000

2011
recognised amounts as per the  
financial statements 69,195 861,044
Assets invested to support:
Ctp technical reserves -1% 14,093
personal insurance technical reserves -1% 225
shareholders funds -1% 1,077
interest bearing financial instruments -1% 4,429 3,100
total 19,824 83,072 874,921

2010
recognised amounts as per the  
financial statements 236,628 791,887
Assets invested to support::
Ctp technical reserves -1% 16,145
personal insurance technical reserves -1% 385
shareholders funds -1% 2,170
interest bearing financial instruments -1% 4,912 1,474
total 23,612 253,156 808,415
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26 FinanCiaL risk management (ContinueD)

market risk (continued)

(iii) equity price risk 

equity price risk is the risk of loss in current and future earnings from adverse moves in equity prices and arises from available-for-sale 
equity securities.  any overall downturn in the equities market may impact on the current and future results of the consolidated entity.   
equity risk is managed by incorporating a diverse holding of blue-chip equities.  98.6% (2010: 100%) of the market value of the equity 
securities portfolio comprises stock that forms part of the standard & poor’s asX 200 index.  for such investments classified as available-
for-sale, a 1 percent increase in the asX 200 index at the reporting date would have increased equity reserves by $178,608 (2010: 
$188,760); an equal change in the opposite direction would have decreased equity reserves by $178,608 (2010: $188,760).  

(iv) Credit spread risk

the outstanding insurance claims provisions are discounted at the risk-free rate while the insurance investments are benchmarked against 
an index comprised of government, semi government and corporate interest-bearing securities.  Where these two distinct series of interest 
rates or yield curves move in different proportions any offsetting adjustment will not be matched leading to an adverse or favourable 
impact on the overall operating result.  this risk is defined as credit spread risk and is most relevant for the Ctp insurance result.

(v) other market price risks

investments in property are restricted to direct property investments or unlisted property trusts with listed property trusts included in the 
equity securities portfolio.  all property investments have to adhere to Board approved investment property guidelines that are reviewed 
on a regular basis.  

Capital management

the Board of director’s policy is to maintain accumulated funds and reserves at a healthy level and returns from investments to provide 
funds to continue to provide quality assistance products and value for money for the benefits of current and prospective members.  Capital 
management is monitored based on surplus after tax and consolidated group surplus.  the Board’s policy is also to provide an appropriate 
level of capital to protect policyholders’ interest and meet externally imposed capital requirements.

the level 2 insurance group is subject to prudential standards issued by apra which set out the basis for calculating the minimum capital 
requirement (mCr).  the mCr is the minimum level of capital that the regulator deems must be held to meet policyholder obligations.   
the level 2 insurance group uses the standardised framework for calculating the mCr in accordance with the relevant prudential standards.   
for capital adequacy purposes, the capital base of the level 2 insurance group is the sum of its tier 1 and tier 2 capital after all specified 
deductions and adjustments.  goodwill and other intangible assets are required to be deducted from tier 1 capital.  provisions for 
outstanding claims in excess of the amount required to provide a level of sufficiency at 75% are classified as capital.  

it is the consolidated entity’s policy to hold regulatory capital levels in excess of the mCr as required by apra.  the current agreed trading 
range for capital for the level 2 insurance group at 31 december 2011 is 1.75 to 2.25 times the mCr.  the Boards of directors monitor 
the regulatory capital positions of raCq insurance and Cih on a regular basis.  the consolidated entity satisfied all externally imposed 
capital requirements during the financial year and in 2010.  
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26 FinanCiaL risk management (ContinueD)

Capital management (continued)

the regulatory capital position of the level 2 insurance group is set out below.

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Tier 1 capital

paid-up ordinary shares 470,890 470,890

retained earnings 8,056 –

Current year earnings 52,126 8,056

excess technical provisions (net of tax) 62,720 56,039

593,792 534,985

less goodwill and other intangible assets 291,964 309,866

net tier 1 capital 301,828 225,119

Tier 2 capital

subordinated notes 60,000 60,000

total tier 2 capital 60,000 60,000

total capital base 361,828 285,119

Minimum capital requirement 

investment risk charge 29,476 24,636

insurance risk charge 114,936 108,623

Concentration risk charge 25,000 30,100

total capital requirement 169,412 163,359

Capital adequacy multiple (times) 2.14 1.75

the value of technical provisions required by gps 310 audit and actuarial reporting and valuation for prudential reporting purposes 
differs from those adopted for accounting purposes due to the fact that apra requires a risk margin to be included at a 75% confidence 
level and for them to be valued on a discounted basis.

on 9 december 2011, apra released draft prudential capital standards which, when finalised, will take effect from 1 January 2013.   
the draft capital standards are predominantly consistent with the proposals contained in quantitative impact study 2 which did not  
result in significant adjustments to the consolidated entity’s prudential capital requirement as at 30 June 2011.
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27 FinanCiaL instruments

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

(i) Valuation approach

fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined by the consolidated entity on the following basis:

listed shares, unsecured and convertible notes, and government and semi-government stocks and bonds are traded in an organised 
financial market.  the fair values of these investments, except convertible notes, are determined by valuing them at the current quoted 
market bid price.  the fair values of convertible notes are determined by valuing them at the current quoted market offer price, with the 
debt and equity conversion option component parts separately valued.

monetary financial assets and financial liabilities not readily traded in an organised financial market are determined by valuing them at the 
future cash flows or amounts due to or from third parties.  Cash flows are discounted using standard valuation techniques at the applicable 
market yield having regard to the timing of the cash flows.

the carrying amounts of the following financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their fair value as they are short term in nature:

• Cash and cash equivalents

• receivables

• payables.

(ii) Fair values versus carrying amounts

the fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, are as follows:

31 December 2011 31 December 2010
Carrying 
amount

Fair Value
Carrying 
amount

Fair Value

RACQ and controlled entities $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
surplus – defined benefit superannuation fund – – 604 604
equity securities available-for-sale 17,861 17,861 18,876 18,876
debt securities for sale 160,636 160,636 202,128 202,128
interest bearing deposit available-for-sale 13,964 13,964 11,400 11,400
other unlisted investment available-for-sale 8,267 8,267 9,254 9,254
investment property* 13,767 22,490 14,092 22,490
financial assets designated at fair value through  
profit or loss 1,003,414 1,003,414 945,618 945,618
loans and receivable 132,944 132,944 118,601 118,601
Cash and cash equivalents 37,478 37,478 38,086 38,086
trade & other payables (66,187) (66,187) (39,315) (39,315)

1,322,144 1,330,687 1,319,344 1,327,742

* investment property was last valued as at 31 december 2009.

(iii) Fair value hierarchy

the table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method.  the different levels have been defined as follows: 

• level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

• level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly  

(i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices) 

• level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).  
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RACQ and controlled entities $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
31 December 2011
available-for-sale financial assets 192,460 799 7,468 200,727
financial assets designated at fair value through  
profit or loss 1,003,414 – – 1,003,414
financial assets held for trading – – – –

derivative financial assets 1,195,874 799 7,468 1,204,141

derivative financial liabilities – – – –
1,195,874 799 7,468 1,204,141

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RACQ and controlled entities $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
31 December 2011
available-for-sale financial assets 232,404  1,785 7,468 241,657
financial assets designated at fair value through  
profit or loss 946,223 – – 946,223
financial assets held for trading – – – –

derivative financial assets 1,178,627 1,785 7,468 1,187,880

derivative financial liabilities – – – –
1,178,627 1,785 7,468 1,187,880

28 auDitors’ remuneration

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$ $

Audit services:

audit of the financial statements 280,900 318,705

other regulatory audit services 80,680 82,035

other assurance services – 28,400

actuarial services 53,000 51,000

414,580 480,140

Other services:

tax compliance services 346,060 351,315

it advisory 166,029 62,481

other advisory services – 18,956

512,089 432,752
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29 ControLLeD entities

particulars in relation to the controlled entities  Interest held

2011 2010

% %

Parent entity

the royal automobile Club of queensland limited

Controlled entities

raCq operations pty ltd 100 100

the road ahead publishing Co pty ltd 100 100

raCq investments pty ltd 100 100

raCq investments no.2 pty ltd 100 100

Club insurance holdings pty ltd 100 100

raCq insurance ltd 100 100

aaa rewards pty ltd 100 100

raCq foundation pty ltd (previously raCq Community fund pty ltd) 100 100

raCq foundation fund (previously raCq Charitable trust fund) 100 100

raCq foundation trust (established on 31 march 2011) 100 0

the parent entity, the royal automobile Club of queensland limited, is a company limited by guarantee and has no share capital.   
in the event of winding up, members are liable to the amount of $2.10 per member.  the Company has 1,359,807 (2010: 1,339,820) 
guaranteeing members.

shares in raCq operations pty ltd and raCq investments no.2 pty ltd are held directly by the parent entity, the royal automobile 
Club of queensland limited.  raCq investments pty ltd and the road ahead publishing Co pty ltd are held indirectly by the parent 
entity, the royal automobile Club of queensland limited, through its 100% interest in raCq operations pty ltd.

50% of the shares in Club insurance holdings pty ltd are held by raCq investments pty ltd, and 50% of the shares in Club insurance 
holdings pty ltd are held by raCq investments no.2 pty ltd.  the shares in raCq insurance limited are held by Club insurance  
holdings pty ltd.

30 DeeD oF Cross guarantee

Pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) dated 13 August 1998, the wholly-owned subsidiaries listed below are relieved from 
the Corporations act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit, and lodgment of financial reports, and directors’ report.

it is a condition of the Class order that the Company and each of the subsidiaries enter into a deed of Cross guarantee.  the effect of 
the deed is that the Company guarantees to each creditor, payment in full of any debt in the event of winding up of any of the subsidiaries 
under certain provisions of the Corporations act 2001.  if a winding up occurs under other provisions of the Corporations act 2001, the 
Company will only be liable in the event that after six months any creditor has not been paid in full.  the subsidiaries have also given similar 
guarantees in the event that the Company is wound up.

the subsidiaries subject to the deed are:

• raCq operations pty ltd

• raCq investments pty ltd

• raCq investments no.2 pty ltd

• the road ahead publishing Co pty ltd

raCq insurance ltd, raCq foundation pty ltd and Club insurance holdings pty ltd are not parties to the deed.
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30 DeeD oF Cross guarantee (ContinueD)

summarised consolidated income statement and balance sheet for parties to the Deed

Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Current assets 232,552 188,921

non current assets 679,827 697,262

total assets 912,379 886,183

Current liabilities 105,058 102,441

non current liabilities 6,617 1,856

total liabilities 111,675 104,297

reserves 5,049 5,189

retained surplus 776,697 550,070

Current year surplus 18,958 226,627

800,704 781,886

revenue 223,318 405,346

expenses 204,360 178,719

net surplus 18,958 226,627

31 business Combination

on 19 august 2010, the consolidated entity obtained control of raCq insurance limited by acquiring the remaining 50 percent of the 
shares and voting interests in the company.  as a result, the consolidated entity’s equity interest in raCq insurance limited increased from 
50 percent to 100 percent.  

taking control of raCq insurance enables the consolidated entity to obtain complete control over the raCq brand and provides the 
group with an increased share of the general insurance market in queensland.

from the date of acquisition until 31 december 2010, raCq insurance limited contributed revenue of $230.781 million and surplus of 
$16.295 million.  if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2010, management estimates that consolidated revenue would have been 
$878.733 million and consolidated surplus would have been $118.241 million.  in determining these amounts, management has assumed  
that the fair value adjustments would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2010.

the following represents the 50% of raCq insurance limited that was acquired and summarises the major classes of consideration 
transferred, and the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:
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31 business Combination (ContinueD)
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Consideration transferred

Cash – 235,445

no additional or contingent consideration was agreed to be paid to the seller.

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Cash and cash equivalents – 57,501

receivables – 108,456

reinsurance and other recoveries receivable – 139,240

investment assets – 915,087

plant and equipment – 8,342

other assets – 10,980

payables – (103,915)

unearned premium liability – (284,962)

outstanding claims liability – (686,259)

deferred tax liability – (25,612)

other liabilities – (18,300)

total identifiable tangible assets & liabilities – 120,558

goodwill – 238,208

other intangible assets and liabilities – 112,124

total assets & liabilities – 470,890

total assets & liabilities acquired (50%) – 235,445

32 reLateD Parties

transactions with key management personnel

no key management personnel have entered into a material contract with the Company or the consolidated entity since the end of the 
previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving key management personnel interests subsisting at year end.

Key management personnel of the Company and consolidated entity may obtain membership and insurance services from the Club and/
or its controlled entity, raCq insurance limited, on the same terms and conditions as those obtained by Company employees and are 
trivial or domestic in nature.  Key management personnel may also obtain other services and products from the Company on terms and 
conditions no more favourable than those available to members and are immaterial in nature.

There are no loans to/from key management personnel.

other related party transactions

Associates

included in the current year consolidated results is a charge made by the Company and a controlled entity to raCq insurance limited for 
services amounting to $nil (2010: $26,352,732).
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32 reLateD Parties (ContinueD)

key management personnel compensation

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$ $

Key management personnel compensation comprised:

short-term benefits 5,614,235 5,053,641

post-employment benefits 399,324 585,936

other long-term benefits 389,715 47,855

6,403,274 5,687,432

the remuneration paid by raCq insurance limited to raCq directors, for their services as an raCq insurance limited director during 
the year totalled $523,980 (from 19 august 2010: $240,112).  

directors of all other subsidiary companies within the consolidated entity are not separately remunerated for their services to those 
subsidiary companies.

the group Chief executive officer of the royal automobile Club of queensland limited, mr gillespie, is a director of raCq insurance 
limited and Club insurance holdings pty ltd as the nominee for the royal automobile Club of queensland limited.  in the previous year, 
mr herbert was a director of raCq insurance limited and was the nominee for gio insurance investment holdings a pty ltd,  
a subsidiary of suncorp metway limited.  each of these directors acted in his role as nominee and was not separately remunerated.  

Director compensation for the royal automobile Club of Queensland Limited   

fees paid by the Company, to the directors, all of whom are non-executive directors, are in accordance with the aggregate fee limit  
of $950,000 approved by the members of raCq.  the directors of the Company receive, as at 1 July 2011, $70,000 per annum  
(2010: $65,000) with the Chairman receiving $140,000 per annum (2010: $130,000).  fees paid are inclusive of superannuation.

the directors of the royal automobile Club of queensland limited are also directors of raCq operations pty ltd, the road ahead 
publishing Co pty ltd, raCq investments pty ltd and raCq investments no.2 pty ltd.  a number of the directors of the royal 
automobile Club of queensland limited are also directors of Club insurance holdings pty ltd.

during the year non-executive directors received the following fees for their service as directors on the Boards described above.   
fees are inclusive of the services delivered for Board and Committee responsibilities.

2011 2010
$ $

geoffrey leddy* Chairman since 25 may 2011 109,286 57,500
richard pietsch* Chairman until 25 may 2011 93,393 115,000
nigel alexander* 67,500 57,500
stephen maitland* 67,500 57,500
anthony gambling 67,500 57,500
fay Barker 67,500 57,500
dennis howe 67,500 57,500
elizabeth Jameson 67,500 57,500
Bronwyn morris 67,500 57,500
Karl Morris director since 1 november 2010 67,500 10,833
peter long director until 10 June 2010 – 22,308

742,679 608,141

* director of Club insurance holdings pty ltd

in addition to fees, directors received other benefits including travel, accommodation and insurance. total other benefits received during 
2011, in aggregate, amounted to $58,218 (2010: $112,409).
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32 reLateD Parties (ContinueD)

Director compensation for raCQ insurance Limited

directors of the Company who are also directors of raCq insurance limited are paid fees by raCq insurance limited.   
this remuneration is supplementary to the remuneration paid by the Company.  raCq insurance limited directors receive, as at 
1 January 2011, $85,200 per annum (2010: $80,000).  additional fees are paid for Committee work and Chairman responsibilities.   
fees paid are inclusive of superannuation.

during the year, non-executive directors received the following fees for their service as directors.  fees are inclusive of the services 
delivered for Board and Committee responsibilities.

2011 2010
$ $

geoffrey leddy 106,500 98,481
richard pietsch Chairman 183,180 172,000
nigel alexander 119,280 109,000
stephen maitland director since 7 october 2010 115,020 27,000
melvyn tozer 115,020 108,000
neville ide 151,124 122,932
raymond Jones director since 7 october 2010 115,020 24,654

905,144 662,067

in addition to fees, directors received other benefits including travel, accommodation and insurance. total other benefits received during 
2011, in aggregate, amounted to $4,898 (2010: $5,806).

on 19 august 2010, the consolidated entity obtained control of raCq insurance limited by acquiring the remaining 50 percent of  
the shares and voting interests in the company.  the key management personnel compensation has been consolidated since that date.   
the individual director compensation for raCq insurance limited has been disclosed for the full 2010 year.

33 DiViDenDs

Dividend Franking account

Balance of franking account adjusted for franking credits which will arise from the payment of income tax provided for in the financial 
statements.

RACQ and 
controlled entities

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Class C 30% (2010: 30%) franking credits - Company 70,188 70,188

Class C 30% (2010: 30%) franking credits - subsidiaries 152,730 134,518

222,918 204,706

the royal automobile Club of queensland limited is a company limited by guarantee and is unable under the Corporations act to pay 
dividends and accordingly is unable to utilise or distribute the franking account credits.
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34 notes to tHe CasH FLoW statements

(i) reconciliation of cash

for the purposes of the statement of Cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and at bank and net of outstanding bank overdrafts.  Cash as 
at the end of the financial year, as shown in the statements of Cash flows, is reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows:

RACQ and 
controlled entities
2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Cash and cash equivalents 37,478 38,086

(ii)  reconciliation of operating surplus after income tax to net cash provided by operating activities
surplus for the period 69,195 236,628

Add / (less) items classified as investing activities:

Deficiency / (surplus) on disposal of property, plant and equipment and investments 214  168

dividends received (1,147) (2,816)

rent received (2,314) (3,074)

interest received (66,445) (32,230)

Add / (less) non cash items:

share of associate’s net result (net of dividends received) – (27,120)

fair value adjustment on acquisition of controlled entity – (145,507)

impairment charge on investments 639 1,703

depreciation and amortisation 30,887 20,287

gain on sale of investments (19,576) (33,407)

Increase / (decrease) in income tax payable 43,442 (18,851)

net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities before change in net assets and liabilities 54,895 (4,219)

Change in assets and liabilities:

inventory 118 (348)

receivables (14,342) (10,147)

reinsurance and other recoveries (85,758) 17,003

prepayments and deferred reinsurance asset (24,019) (6,549)

intangible assets 12,243 10,474

deferred acquisition costs (2,352) (28,166)

investment accounted for using equity method – 107,818

unearned revenue 14,018 7,286

payables 24,303 4,870

outstanding claims liability 110,307 26,334

provision for employee benefits 2,720 852

deferred tax balances 735 (24,785)

Loans from / to controlled and associated entities – (682)

income tax paid (61,024) (19,082)

net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 31,844 80,659
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35 Parent entity DisCLosures

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

surplus for the year 24,616 31,037

other comprehensive income – –

total comprehensive income for the year 24,616 31,037

Balance sheet of parent entity at year end:

Current assets 514,327 487,435

total assets 590,144 564,662

Current liabilities 159,387 157,440

total liabilities 159,071 157,590

Total equity of the parent entity comprising of:

investment revaluation reserve – 5,189

general reserve – –

retained earnings 431,073 401,883

total equity 431,073 407,072

Contingent liabilities of the parent entity:

nil (2010 : nil)

Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment:

Contracted but not provided for and payable:

Within one year 42,042 13,878

Parent entity guarantees in respect of debts of its subsidiaries

the parent entity has entered into a deed of Cross guarantee with the effect that the Company guarantees debts in respect of  
its subsidiaries.

further details of the deed of Cross guarantee and the subsidiaries subject to the deed, are disclosed in note 30.
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direCtors’ deClaration

1. in the opinion of the directors of the royal automobile Club of queensland limited (the “Company”):

 (a)  the consolidated financial statements and notes, set out on pages 32 to 87, are in accordance with the  
Corporations Act 2001, including:

  (i)  giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and consolidated entity as at 31 december 2011  
and of their performance, for the year ended on that date; and

  (ii)  complying with australian accounting standards (including australian accounting interpretations) and the  
Corporations regulations 2001; and

 (b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become  
due and payable.

2.  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the subsidiaries identified in note 30 will be able to meet  
any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject to by virtue of the deed of Cross guarantee between  
the Company and those controlled entities pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418.

3.  the directors draw attention to note 1(a) to the consolidated financial statements, which includes a statement of compliance  
with international financial reporting standards.

signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

geoFFrey LeDDy 
Chairman

dated at Brisbane 
this 20th day of march 2012
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rePort on tHe FinanCiaL rePort

We have audited the accompanying financial report of The Royal Automobile Club of Queensland Limited (the company), 

which comprises the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 december 2011, and consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended on that 

date, notes 1 to 35 comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and the 

directors’ declaration of the group comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to 

time during the financial year.

DireCtors’ resPonsibiLity For tHe FinanCiaL rePort 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view  

in accordance with australian accounting standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the 

directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement 

whether due to fraud or error. in note 1a, the directors also state, in accordance with australian accounting standard  

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements of the Group comply with International  

financial reporting standards.

auDitor’s resPonsibiLity

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 

with australian auditing standards. these auditing standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements 

relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is 

free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

report. the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 

internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. an audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

financial report. 

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance 

with the Corporations Act 2001 and australian accounting standards, a true and fair view which is consistent with our 

understanding of the Group’s financial position and of its performance. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

inDePenDenCe

in conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.

liability limited by a scheme approved under 
professional standards legislation.

independent auditor’s report  
to the members of  the royal automobile Club 
of queensland limited
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auDitor’s oPinion

in our opinion:

(a) the financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:  

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2011 and of its performance for the year ended  

on that date; and 

(ii) complying with australian accounting standards  and the Corporations regulations 2001.

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 1a. 

KPMG

Scott Guse

partner

Brisbane  

20 march 2012

independent auditor’s report  
to the members of the royal automobile  
Club of queensland limited
(continued)
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Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001

to: the directors of the royal automobile Club of queensland limited

i declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the year ended 31 december 2011 there have been:

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG

Scott Guse
partner

Brisbane 

20 march 2012

lead auditor’s independenCe deClaration

liability limited by a scheme approved under 
professional standards legislation.

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
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Corporate direCtory

Club Patron 
Her excellency ms Penelope Wensley aC
governor of Queensland

President and Chairman
geoffrey C Leddy btech(Civil), Lge, gDm, FaiCD

Group Executive

Group Chief Executive Officer
ian a gillespie ba, Dip Laws (bab), CCeo, maiCD, Faim

RACQ Insurance Chief Executive Officer
bradley Heath b.bus acc, gaiCD

Group Chief Financial Officer 
Leanne m muller bCom, g.Dip Fin & inv, aCa

Chief Information Officer 
bruce e rice

Chief Operations Officer 
glenn a toms bbus, g.Dip Fin & inv, FFin, Faim

Executive General Manager Corporate Governance
Paul V Williams LLb, a. Dipbus, mbus (mgt), Ftia, maiCD, mQLs

Executive General Manager External Relations
Paul turner gaiCD

Executive General Manager Marketing 
ian L mitchell Dip tech (mgt), FaiCD

Executive General Manager People
rolanda Z ayling bed (secondary), gaiCD

Auditors
kPmg
riparian Plaza
Level 16, 71 eagle street
brisbane QLD 4000

Registered Head Office
2649 Logan road
eight mile Plains QLD 4113
Telephone: 61 7 3361 2444
Facsimile: 61 7 3341 8024
Email: racq@racq.com.au
Website: racq.com

Postal Address
Po box 4
springwood  QLD  4127

aCn 009 660 575 
abn 72 009 660 575

Branches and Major Agencies

Brisbane
• browns Plains – grand Plaza shopping Centre

• Carindale – Westfield Carindale shopping Centre

• City – gPo Laneway, brisbane

• Chermside – Westfield Chermside shopping Centre

• eight mile Plains – raCQ operations Centre,  
 2649 Logan road

• inala – inala Plaza

• indooroopilly – indooroopilly shopping Centre

• mitchelton – brookside shopping Centre

• strathpine – Westfield strathpine shopping Centre

• upper mt gravatt – Westfield garden City  
 shopping Centre

Other Areas
• beenleigh – beenleigh mall, main street

• bundaberg – 249 bourbong street

• Cairns – stockland shopping Centre, earlville

• Caloundra – 104 bulcock street

• Capalaba – Capalaba Central shopping Centre

• elanora – the Pines shopping Centre, guineas Creek road

• gladstone – 50 Hanson road

• gympie – goldfields Plaza, 71 monkland street

• Hervey bay – 92 boat Harbour Drive

• ipswich – riverlink shopping Centre, north ipswich

• mackay – Caneland Central, Cnr Victoria street and 
mangrove road

• maroochydore – 25-33 Cornmeal Parade

• maryborough – Comet Place, 133 Lennox street

• morayfield – morayfield shopping Centre, morayfield road

• nambour – 23-25 Currie street

• nerang – Centro shopping Centre, station street

• noosaville – noosa Civic, 28 eenie Creek road

• redcliffe – 8 snook street, Clontarf

• redcliffe – blue Water square, Cnr anzac avenue  
and sutton street

• robina – robina town Centre, arbour Court

• rockhampton – red Hill Homemaker Centre,  
 yaamba road, north rockhampton

• runaway bay – oasis shopping Centre, oxley Drive

• southport – australia Fair shopping Centre

• southport West – 239 nerang road

• toowoomba – 176 James street

•  townsville – 202 ross river road, aitkenvale

• Warwick – rose City shopping World, Palmerin street
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the royal automobile Club of queensland limited
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